THE ROLE OF HOTAIR IN THE MODULATION OF SKELETAL MUSCLE MYOGENESIS

FRITZLAINE ROCHE

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CHEMISTRY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

AUGUST 2016

Copyright © by Fritzlaine Roche 2016

All Rights Reserved



Acknowledgements

I realize that no feat whether seemingly insurmountable or miniscule is possible without the mentorship, guidance, support and prayers of others. Under this personal philosophy, I extend the deepest appreciation and gratitude to the following individuals:

To my father who guides me while even in Heaven, I thank you. To my mother who loves and supports me unconditionally, I thank you. To Mr. Moore whose presence warms my heart, I thank you. To my siblings, friends, and colleagues from UTA and beyond, I thank you for empathizing, humoring and cheering me along this journey.

To my family away from home-the members of the Brotto Lab at the University of Texas-Arlington, including Ms. Sarah Daggs, Ms. Heather Maxwell, Dr. Carol Wang, Dr. Chenglin Mo, Dr. Jian Huang, Dr. Leticia Brotto and Dr. Marco Brotto, I give my wholehearted appreciation. When I entered the Brotto Lab, I arrived with an unprimed potential, having just a brief experience in bench research. Nonetheless, I was graciously welcomed and patiently trained from the basics to the complexities of research. To Dr. Huang, thank you for enduring my plentiful questions and exemplifying the integrity of research. To Dr. Leticia Brotto, there are simply not enough chocolates to thank you for your genuine compassion, sincerity and commitment to my success.

I would also like to express my sincere appreciation to my thesis committee: Dr. Marco Brotto, Dr. Subhrangsu Mandal and Dr. Kayunta Johnson-Winters. Thank you for investing in my academic development and growth. I also would like to wholeheartedly thank the chairperson of my committee, Dr. Marco Brotto. Thank you for believing in my potential and providing me with unimaginable opportunities to challenge and extend my mind. You are the epitome of a dedicated, creative, talented and motivated researcher and scientist and I am so grateful and honored to call you my mentor.

July 8, 2016

iii

Abstract

THE ROLE OF HOTAIR IN THE MODULATION OF SKELETAL MUSCLE MYOGENESIS

Fritzlaine Roche, MS

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2016

Supervising Professor: Marco Brotto

Skeletal muscle function is a vital requirement for an enriched healthy life. For years the molecular processes governing myogenesis and the development of skeletal muscle were primarily associated with proteins. In recent years, however, non-coding RNAs including microRNAs (miRNAs) and long non coding RNAs (IncRNAs) have emerged as integral components of gene regulation that take part in cellular differentiation, development and disease. HOTAIR (HOX antisense intergenic RNA) is a long non-coding RNA (IncRNA) that is transcribed from the antisense strand of the homeobox C (HOXC) gene locus present on chromosome 12. HOTAIR has been shown to have a regulatory role in gene silencing as it coordinates with chromatin-modifying enzymes. Although there is a substantial amount of data suggesting important functions of HOTAIR in several human and mouse cells and tissues, very little knowledge exists about HOTAIR functions in skeletal muscle. To explore the impact of HOTAIR on skeletal muscle cell growth and development, we knockdown HOTAIR in mouse skeletal muscle cells and analyzed the impact on cell proliferation and differentiation. HOTAIR expression was reduced with a synthetically designed HOTAIR antisense DNA and siRNA in separate experiments. To investigate the underlying effect of HOTAIR in C2C12 cells, a series of gene expression, gene array, immunostaining and calcium imaging analyses

iv

were employed during cell differentiation. Partial knockdown of HOTAIR in C2C12 cells resulted in fewer and smaller myotubes as confirmed by immunostaining at days 3 and 4 of differentiation with Myosin Heavy Chain (MHC) which only stains myocytes and myotubes but not myoblasts. RT-qPCR revealed a dysregulation of myogenic genes expression that is reflective of abnormal myogenesis. Intracellular calcium (Ca^{2+}) measurements of the siRNA-treated C2C12 cells showed a decrease in maximum amplitude peak response to caffeine, reduced peak level and shorten relaxation phase, suggesting that less Ca²⁺ is available for release and re-uptake due to the partial silencing of HOTAIR, correlating with impaired myogenesis. To investigate the molecular signaling machinery induced by partial HOTAIR knockdown we used a real-time PCR gene array to monitor the activity of 10 signaling pathways. We discovered that HOTAIR knockdown modulated the NFkB and Oxidative Stress pathways (Ccl5 and Ngo1). These results suggest that HOTAIR may exert its function on skeletal muscle via the regulation of the NFkB and Oxidative Stress pathways which are critical for skeletal muscle homeostasis. These studies provide the basis for in-depth studies of HOTAIR function in skeletal muscle by extending its exploration to primary murine and human models as well as animal models.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	iv
List of Illustrations	ix
List of Tables	xi
Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 AN OVERVIEW ON SKELETAL MUSCLE FUNCTION	1
1.2 MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF SKELETAL MUSCLE DISEASE	5
1.3 IMPLICATION OF NON-CODING RNAS ON SKELETAL MUSCLE	8
1.4 IMPLICATION OF HOTAIR ON SKELETAL MUSCLE	
1.5 STUDY PURPOSE AND WORKING HYPOTHESIS	12
Chapter 2 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND METHODOLOGY	13
2.1 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	13
2.2 RESEARCH DESIGN	14
In vitro Studies	14
C2C12 Cell Line	15
Scope of Investigation	15
2.3 C2C12 CELL CULTURE	16
Myoblast Proliferation	16
Myogenic Differentiation	16
2.4 HOTAIR ANTISENSE DNA TRANSFECTION ASSAY	
2.5 HOTAIR SIRNA TRANSFECTION ASSAY	
2.6 HOTAIR SIRNA TRANSFECTION EFFICIENCY	
2.7 QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME PCR (RT-qPCR)	19
2.8 RT-PCR GENE ARRAY	20

	22
MHC Staining	22
DAPI Staining	22
Fusion Index	22
2.10 INTRACELLULAR CALCIUM IMAGING	23
Chapter 3 RESULTS	27
3.1 INTRODUCTION	27
3.2 HOTAIR ANTISENSE DNA TRANSFECTION RESULTS	28
HOTAIR antisense DNA partially inhibits HOTAIR in C2C12 cells	28
Partial knockdown of HOTAIR alters myogenic gene expression	
Partial knockdown of HOTAIR inhibits myoblast differentiation	32
3.3 HOTAIR siRNA TRANSFECTION RESULTS	34
Transfection efficiency confirms HOTAIR siRNA intracellular delivery in	
C2C12 myoblasts	34
RT-qPCR reveals prolonged reduction of HOTAIR expression in	
proliferating C2C12 cells	
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression	
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression	
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression Partial HOTAIR knockdown of HOTAIR with siRNA confirms the inhibition of myoblast differentiation observed in the antisense DNA	
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression Partial HOTAIR knockdown of HOTAIR with siRNA confirms the inhibition of myoblast differentiation observed in the antisense DNA studies	41
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression Partial HOTAIR knockdown of HOTAIR with siRNA confirms the inhibition of myoblast differentiation observed in the antisense DNA studies Partial HOTAIR knockdown reduces resting levels of intracellular	41
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression Partial HOTAIR knockdown of HOTAIR with siRNA confirms the inhibition of myoblast differentiation observed in the antisense DNA studies Partial HOTAIR knockdown reduces resting levels of intracellular calcium and calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR)	41 43
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression Partial HOTAIR knockdown of HOTAIR with siRNA confirms the inhibition of myoblast differentiation observed in the antisense DNA studies Partial HOTAIR knockdown reduces resting levels of intracellular calcium and calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Partial HOTAIR knockdown in C2C12 cells up-regulats genes within the	41 43
Partial HOTAIR Knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression Partial HOTAIR knockdown of HOTAIR with siRNA confirms the inhibition of myoblast differentiation observed in the antisense DNA studies Partial HOTAIR knockdown reduces resting levels of intracellular calcium and calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Partial HOTAIR knockdown in C2C12 cells up-regulats genes within the NFkB and Oxidative Stress pathways	41 43 45

References	53
Biographical Information	74

List of Illustrations

Figure 1-1 Multimedia of C2C12 myoblasts differentiating in vitro2	
Figure 1-2 Schematic drawing of the triad junction, chief site of the excitation-coupling	
(E-C) process in skeletal muscles	
Figure 2-1 Skeletal Muscle Myogenesis Model14	
Figure 2-2 HOTAIR antisense DNA sequence17	
Figure 2-3 Molecular structure and schematic drawing of Fura-2AM entry into the cell25	
Figure 3-1 HOTAIR gene expression relative to GAPDH after transfection with HOTAIR	
antisense DNA	
Figure 3-2 Gene expression of Myogenic Determination Protein (MyoD), Myogenin	
(MyoG), Myosin Heavy Chain (MHC) and Myostatin relative to GAPDH in C2C12 cells	
after transfection with HOTAIR antisense DNA	
Figure 3-3 Partial knockdown of HOTAIR in C2C12 cells effectively reduced fusion index	
after transfection with HOTAIR antisense DNA	
Figure 3-4 High transfection efficiency of negative control siRNA in C2C12 cells yields	
partial knockdown of HOTAIR	
Figure 3-5 HOTAIR specificity and expression in C2C12 cells during proliferation and	
differentiation after transfection with HOTAIR siRNA	
Figure 3-6 RT-qPCR results of myogenic markers (MyoD, MyoG, MHC, Myostatin),	
HOXD10, EZH2 and LSD1 on day 1 of proliferation and day 3 of differentiation after	
transfection with 25nM of HOTAIR siRNA40	
Figure 3-7 Partial knockdown of HOTAIR in C2C12 cells effectively reduced fusion index	
after transfection with HOTAIR siRNA42	
Figure 3-8 HOTAIR knockdown alters the calcium transients induced by 20mM caffeine	
of C2C12 cells loaded with Fura-2/AM	

Figure 3-9 Gene array profiling results of 84 genes belonging to 10 canonical pathways	i
monitored in HOTAIR-siRNA treated cells	46

Table 2-1 Primer Sequences	20
Table 2-2 Mouse Signal Transduction Pathway Finder PCR Array Genes	21

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 AN OVERVIEW ON SKELETAL MUSCLE FUNCTION

Skeletal muscles are dynamic integrated tissues of the musculoskeletal system. As implied by the name, skeletal muscles play a vital role in positioning and moving the skeleton. They are involved in voluntary movement, execution of facial expressions, postural support and respiration.¹ Among their role in the musculoskeletal system, skeletal muscles also have interdependent links to other systems in the body including the nervous system and cardiovascular system.² Skeletal muscles attach to the bone through a mobile tendon-fascia connection. The flexible attachment facilitates the movement of the bone upon contraction of the muscle. Historically, the relationship between bone and skeletal muscle has been viewed as strictly mechanical in the sense that the bone provides the attachment site for muscle and muscle primarily loads bone.³ However, recent investigations suggest that in addition to their mechanical involvement, skeletal muscle and bone engage in biochemical crosstalk in which the bone and skeletal muscle secrete factors that cross-regulate the growth and function of the other tissue.⁴ In order to fully comprehend changing perspectives of the role of skeletal muscle, the development and function of skeletal muscle muscle muscle examined.

The theoretical framework of our thesis is skeletal muscle myogenesis, which is the process in which skeletal muscle fibers develop from myogenic progenitor cells (See Fig. 1-1 accompanying movie of C2C12 myoblasts differentiating in vitro). During myogenesis, undifferentiated satellite cells give rise to mono-nucleated proliferating myoblasts that can spontaneously fuse together to form multi-nucleated myotubes that undergo further development to form skeletal muscle fiber.⁵ The fate of the muscle satellite cell is undetermined as it has the choice of remaining a satellite cell through a

continuous mitotic cycle or differentiating to form an enlarged, elongated and tubular myotube.⁵ The myogenic differentiation process takes place during embryonic development as well as throughout adult life. For example, in response to skeletal muscle injury, because of activating satellite cells that align outside the myofiber under the basal lamina, skeletal muscle cells are able to regenerate.⁵⁻⁶ The regenerative potential of satellite cells can also be replicated in-vitro, which provides a mechanism for recapitulating and translating the underlying science of skeletal muscle disorders from the bench to the bedside.



Figure 1-1 **Multimedia of C2C12 myoblasts differentiating in vitro**. The in vitro C2C12 differentiation process takes approximately 7 days for completion. The step-by-step differentiation process involving myoblast maturation, fusion of myoblasts and fusion of myotubes was recorded in the Brotto Lab by Dr. Chenglin Mo in collaboration with Dr. Sarah Dallas at the University of Missouri-Kanas City.

In addition to its regenerative capacity, muscular contractions are another distinct characteristic of skeletal muscle. Skeletal muscle contraction provides the primary force to generate movement in the body mediated by muscle fibers. A muscle fiber is a single muscle cell that resulted from the fusion of multiple myoblasts. Each muscle cell or muscle fiber consist of a sarcolemma (cell membrane), sarcoplasm (cytoplasm) and myofibrils which are intracellular structures that consist of the contractile thin filament, actin, thick filament, myosin, and the contractile facilitator proteins, tropomoyosin and troponins.⁷ Each myofibril is closely enwrapped by a sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), which

is a modified endoplasmic reticulum that stores Ca²⁺ ions and is juxtaposed to traversing tubules (t-tubules) that are involved in ion exchange.⁷⁻⁸ When a skeletal muscle cell receives a signal to contract, it undergoes a dynamic transient change in its myofibril structure through shortening of the sarcomeres.

The signal for contraction begins when a motor neuron releases acetylcholine (Ach) at the neuromuscular junction.⁹ As Ach is released and binds to the Ach receptorchannels of the muscle fiber, there is an influx of Na⁺ ions which generates an action potential that spreads along the sarcolemma and into the t-tubules.⁸ The action potential causes the dihydropyridine receptor (DHPR) of the t-tubule to change conformation and open the SR Ca²⁺ release channels, also known as the ryanodine receptors (RyR).⁷⁻⁸ The opening of RyR releases Ca²⁺ down its concentration gradient into the cytosol (Fig. 1-2).⁹ In the resting state of a skeletal muscle, tropomyosin binds to the myosin binding sites of actin and this prevents the movement of myosin along actin and thereby inhibits contraction.⁹ However, as cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration increases, Ca²⁺ binds reversibly to troponin which allows it to pull tropomyosin off such that sarcomere shortening and skeletal muscle contraction are enabled.⁹

Calcium homeostasis is maintained after contraction through the re-entry of Ca²⁺ from the sarcoplasm to the SR through the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase (SERCA) which is embedded within the SR membrane.¹⁰ Another mechanism for maintaining the normally low intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations (100-200nM) is through active transport of Ca²⁺ from the cytosol to the extracellular space through the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase (PMCA).¹⁰ Recent studies have also indicated that as the Ca²⁺ concentration in the SR depletes due to contraction, it is replenished by store operated channels (SOC) that are located on the transverse-tubule membrane and transport Ca²⁺ back into the SR.¹⁰ The mechanisms underlying calcium homeostasis are essential for proper cell signaling, gene regulation and myogenesis.¹⁰⁻¹¹



Figure 1-2 Schematic drawing of the triad junction, chief site of the excitationcoupling (E-C) process in skeletal muscles.¹² In skeletal muscle, depolarization of the sarcolemma and its t-tubules (represented by the lightning bolt in yellow) alters the conformation of DHPR and results in its modified interaction with RyR (shown in red) which enables the dominant type of calcium release observed in skeletal muscle, depolarization induced calcium release (DICR). The initial depolarization can further be amplified by a secondary mechanism, calcium-induced calcium release (CICR), which is the predominant mechanism in cardiac muscle.

The process of skeletal muscle contraction is what enables the range of fine delicate facial movements to that of forceful loading of the bone through aerobic exercise or lifting. Although the mechanism of skeletal muscle contraction appears reasonably thorough, there is still much to be learned about the function and development of skeletal muscle. However, with innovative research, there is hope for sustainable contributions to therapies for skeletal muscle disorders and diseases.

1.2 MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF SKELETAL MUSCLE DISEASE

The World Health Organization Global Burden of Disease Study (GBD) of 2010 estimated 1.7 billion people worldwide are affected by musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs).¹³ Among the 289 diseases and injuries evaluated in the GBD study of 2010, MSDs rank as the second greatest cause of disability according to the calculated years lived with disability (YLDs) for affected individuals.¹³ This equates to roughly 21.3% of all YLDs.¹³ MSDs only rank below mental and behavioral disorders with respect to this measure.¹³

The state of muscle satellite cells determines to a large degree the regenerative capacity of skeletal muscle as a result of injury, aging or dystrophy. In adults, quiescent undifferentiated satellite cells are in direct contact with the myofiber under the basal lamina where they await activation in response to specific signals.¹⁴ Upon activation, the satellite cells escape the basal lamina and can proliferate or differentiate into new myotubes and thereby regenerate skeletal muscle.¹⁵ Skeletal muscle disorders due to muscular dystrophy and aging are often linked to a reduced regenerative capacity of satellite cells caused by excessive muscle-repair degeneration and regeneration cycles.¹⁶ The importance of satellite cells for skeletal muscle regeneration was demonstrated in the Muscular Duchenne Dystrophy (DMD) study by Luz et al.¹⁷ DMD is an x-linked recessive disorder that is characterized by a mutations in the *Dystrophin* gene resulting in progressive muscle degeneration, weakness, and early death.¹⁸ Luz et al. showed that *mdx* mice harboring a point mutation in the Dystrophin gene that repeatedly underwent muscle degenerative cycles by injection with a myotoxic agent experienced

a significant decrease in the population of regenerated muscle fiber that was proportional to the number of injections given.¹⁷

As with DMD, aging can also induce a repetitive cycling of muscle degeneration and regeneration.¹ From this perspective, aging induces sarcopenia, a decrease in muscle mass and strength. The residual loss of muscle mass that characterizes sarcopenia can result in denervation, mitochondrial dysfunction, inflammation and hormonal changes at the cellular level and lead to weakness, imbalance and susceptibility to falls, and the direst cases, morbidity at the systemic level.^{1, 18} In the several documented cases of sarcopenia, the reduction in the size of muscle fibers suggest a triggering mechanism involving nutrition, physical activity, metabolic homeostasis, hormonal changes, oxidative stress, and age.¹⁸⁻¹⁹ The therapies against sarcopenia are rather diverse and involve exercise, ingestion of amino acids and treatment with testosterone.²⁰ Inhibitors against myostatin, a negative regulator of myogenesis that has be shown to inhibit cell cycle progression and reduce levels of myogenic transcription factors, may also attenuate the symptoms of sarcopenia.^{18, 20-21} Wehling et al. and Sakuma et al. showed that levels of myostatin increases with muscle atrophy due to unloading as shown in mice and humans and as a result of muscle wasting in patients with cancer cachexia, chronic health failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), AIDS and diabetes.²² In response to this finding, Siriett et al. showed that myostatin-null old mice had minimal atrophy and accelerated muscle regeneration compared to the wild-type.^{21a} However, Gu et al. found that although deletion of myostatin in rats resulted in greater muscle mass, it did not result in greater fiber strength.²³ This finding is among other similar reports of myostatin in sarcopenia and contributes to the challenge of defining its role.¹⁸

Perhaps the uncertainty surrounding the role of myostatin in reducing/strengthening musce fiber in dystrophic skeletal muscle is due to a multifactorial combination of

mechanisms affecting fiber strength. As shown by recent studies, age-induced skeletal muscle decline could be the consequence of oxidative stress caused by an accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS).¹¹ ROS/RNS are natural byproducts of eukaryotic cellular metabolism.²⁴ In eukaryotic cells, ROS are typically produced by the membranebound NADPH oxidase complex and the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) and monamine oxidases (MAO).^{11, 25} Excessive production of ROS can be detrimental to cellular processes and therefore are tightly regulated by antioxidant enzymes that convert the byproducts to less reactive species such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) that can then be further reduced to water.¹¹ Defects that stimulate the overproduction of ROS and prevents their removal is an attribute of cancer, cellular aging, ischemic disorders and degenerative diseases.^{11, 25-26} In skeletal muscle, ROS have been shown to serve a physiological purpose as they take part in signaling mechanisms that promote muscle adaptation to exercise.^{11, 27} However, ROS can also have a pathological effect on skeletal muscle. Several studies on dystrophic human and mice muscles using DMD patients and mdx mice report elevated levels of antioxidant enzymes which is indicative of oxidative stress.11, 28

As a result of oxidative stress by ROS accumulation, several signaling mechanisms in skeletal muscle can be altered and disrupted. The loss of calcium homeostasis due to the emergence of leaky membrane calcium channels induced by ROS is a welldocumented event.²⁹ The resulting influx of calcium ions into the cytosol is a speculated cause of myofiber necrosis in muscular dystrophy.³⁰ This hypothesis has been supported by mouse models with elevated calcium influx giving rise to muscular dystrophic symptoms and models with enhanced calcium clearance or inhibited calcium influx resulting in greater resistance to myofiber death and muscular dystrophy.³⁰ The emergence of calcium as an effector molecule in cases of muscular dystrophy brings it to

the forefront of considerable therapeutic solutions among alternatives such as NFκB pathway targets.

NFkB is a transcription factor that is involved in immune and inflammatory response as well as cellular growth, differentiation and apoptosis.³¹ Recent studies indicate that skeletal muscle degeneration induced by oxidative stress is mediated by NFkB. In *mdx* mice, NFkB is activated prior to the onset of muscular dystrophy.¹¹ Kumar et al. and Acharrya et al have shown that when *mdx* mice are treated with the N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) antioxidant, NFkB activation is inhibited, suggesting that oxidative stress lies upstream of NFkB and takes part in the upregulation of NFkB in DMD myopathy.³² Other factors within the NFkB pathway such as TNFα, which activates NFkB, may also play a causal role in muscular dystrophy induced by oxidative stress but the oxidative stress-muscular dystrophy mechanism in its entirety remains to be unequivocally affirmed.

1.3 IMPLICATION OF NON-CODING RNAS ON SKELETAL MUSCLE

Adequate skeletal muscle function is a vital requirement for an enriched healthy life. Thus the regulatory processes that govern skeletal muscle development are essential for promoting health. For years the molecular processes governing myogenesis and the development of skeletal muscle were primarily associated with the "Central Dogma of Molecular Biology," that is DNA makes RNA make protein.³³ Resultantly, the regulation or dysregulation of myogenesis was exclusively attributed to protein transcriptional factors. Despite the completion of the Human Genome Project and the revelation that proteincoding genes account for only 1.5% of the genome, the view that proteins are sole regulatory molecules continued and non-coding genomic DNA was disregarded as "junk DNA."³⁴ In recent years, however, non-coding RNAs including microRNAs (miRNAs) and

long non coding RNAs (IncRNAs) have emerged as integral components of gene regulation that take part in cellular differentiation, development and disease.^{34b}

miRNAs are a class of evolutionarily conserved, relatively short non proteincoding RNAs that are approximately 22 nucleotides long.³⁵ miRNas typically play a role in post-transcriptional regulation by targeting messenger RNAs (mRNAs) for cleavage or translational repression.³⁵ Conversely, lncRNAs typically are not conserved, have transcripts that are longer than 200 nucleotides and have low or no protein-coding potential.³⁶ lncRNAs have been shown to also play a role in transcriptional and epigenetic regulation via co-interactions with transcriptional complexes or by recruitment of chromatin modifying complexes post-transcription.^{34b} In the case of skeletal muscle disease, recent studies indicate that dysregulation of miRNAs and lncRNAs in skeletal muscle may result in muscle hypoplasia, increased apoptosis and muscular dystrophy.³⁷

The recent discoveries of IncRNAs in skeletal muscle prompt interest in their function. In 2010 De Santa et al. and Kim et al. discovered several IncRNAs from the enhancer region of skeletal muscle genes that appeared to regulate chromosome structure or transcription machinery through cis and trans mediated-mechanisms.³⁸ In 2011, the first muscle-specific IncRNA, linc-MD1, was identified by Gabellini et al. and since then has been found to be required for proper muscle differentiation.³⁹ Interestingly, reduced levels of linc-MD1 have been observed in DMD patients and overexpression of linc-MD1 has restored normal expression of myogenic genes which includes Myogenin (*MyoG*)and Myosin Heavy Chain (*MHC*).^{39a} Moreover, in 2013 Mousavi et al. identified two enhancer RNAs from the Myogenic Determination gene (*MyoD*), Distal Regulatory Regions (*DDR*) and Core Enhancer (*CE*), which reportedly function in stimulating the expressions of the myogenic transcription factors, Myogenic Determination Protein-1 (MyoD1) and MyoG.⁴⁰ In summary, the role of ncRNAs in skeletal muscle is a continuous

development. However the exciting discoveries and research on ncRNAs open doors and pave avenues for promising and innovative therapies against skeletal muscle disease.

1.4 IMPLICATION OF HOTAIR ON SKELETAL MUSCLE

HOX Transcript Antisense Intergenic RNA (HOTAIR) is a spliced and polyadenylated 2.2 kb long non-coding RNA (IncRNA) that is transcribed from the antisense strand of the homeobox C (HOX C) gene locus between chromosomes 11 and 12.41 HOTAIR was discovered in 2007 as a result of a series of transcriptomic and proteomic analyses of the HOX loci on primary adult human fibroblasts.⁴¹ A high resolution tiled microarray was designed for the four human HOX loci (HOXA, HOXB, HOXC and HOXD) to investigate their transcriptional and epigenetic activities.⁴¹ To reconcile the characteristic of human adult fibroblasts to differentiate exclusively based on their anatomical sites of origin and maintain their embryonic features, samples were obtained from 11 distinct anatomical positions and analyzed.⁴¹ The length of HOTAIR as well as its splicing and polyadenylation was confirmed by molecular cloning and northern blot analysis.⁴¹ Additionally, strand-specific RT-PCR confirmed the antisense transcription of HOTAIR from the HOXC locus.⁴¹ To investigate correlations between methylation marks and the locations that the non-coding RNAs were discovered, chromatin immunoprecipiation (ChIP) microarray experiments were performed.⁴¹ The results of the ChIP assay followed by HOTAIR knockdown revealed that HOTAIR targets and represses the HOXD locus through a trans mechanism.⁴¹

Since its discovery *HOTAIR* has been described as a transcriptional and epigenetic gene regulator due to its interaction with the Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 (PRC2) and Lysine Specific Demethylase 1 (LSD1) chromatin modification complexes.⁴² *HOTAIR* bridges PRC2 and LSD1 and guides the silencing complexes to different sites along the genome to repress transcription in trans mode.^{41, 42d, 43} *HOTAIR* is hence a molecular scaffold as well as a chaperone in gene silencing. The 5' end of *HOTAIR* binds to PRC2 which consists of three major subunits, Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase EZH2 (EZH2), Polycomb Protein Suz12 (Suz12) and Polycomb Protein EED (EED).⁴⁴ The EZH2 subunit of PRC2 lays down deactivated trimethylation marks on histone H3 lysine-27 (H3K27).⁴⁴ The 3' end of *HOTAIR* binds to LSD1 which removes active methylation marks from H3K4.⁴⁴ Collectively, the actions of PRC2 and LSD1 in association with *HOTAIR* contribute to repressive chromatin structure.⁴⁵

The dysregulation of HOTAIR has been linked to several cancers including colorectal, pancreatic, gastric, breast, cervical and prostate.^{42a, 44, 46} Surprisingly, there is limited exploration of HOTAIR in skeletal muscle considering that its counterparts, PRC2 and LSD1 have significant effects on skeletal muscle. In 2004, Caretti et al. postulated that EZH2 methytransferase regulates gene expression and skeletal muscle differentiation based on the finding that its downregulation coincided with myogenic activation in mouse somites.⁴⁷ Subsequent studies showing that ablation of EZH2 in satellite cells and myoblasts impairs muscle regeneration and inhibits myoblast differentiation have provided further evidence to the importance of EZH2 in skeletal muscle development.⁴⁸ Similar to studies of EZH2, recent investigations of LSD1 in skeletal muscle also suggest a regulatory importance. In 2010, Choi et al. suggested that LSD1 regulates myogenic factors and is required for skeletal muscle differentiation. This hypothesis was supported by the observation of enhanced LSD1 protein expression during myogenic differentiation and impairment of myoblast differentiation upon LSD1 depletion.⁴⁹ The association of EZH2 and LSD1 with skeletal muscle regulation is intriguing. Although there is still much to be resolved about the roles of EZH2 and LSD1 on skeletal muscle, the evidence of a relationship coincident with the role of HOTAIR in

the recruitment of PRC2 and LSD1 to chromatin stimulates thought on the function and effect of *HOTAIR* on skeletal muscle.

1.5 STUDY PURPOSE AND WORKING HYPOTHESIS

Chapter 2 The overall objective of this study was to decipher the role of HOTAIR in skeletal muscle and elucidate mechanisms by which it may function. This research applied established knowledge of skeletal muscle regulation to expand the investigation to the influence of an IncRNA (HOTAIR) on skeletal muscle. The research question for this study was what is the overall molecular, chemical and physical effect of HOTAIR silencing on C2C12 cells? The working hypothesis for this study was that treatment of the mouse skeletal muscle myogenic stem cells (C2C12) with HOTAIR antisense DNA and siRNA would disrupt skeletal muscle myogenesis compared to untreated C2C12 cells as evident by fewer nuclei within myotubes, reduced fusion index, down regulation of myogenesis regulatory genes and decreased sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium release response to calcium stimulation with caffeine. The hypothesis was tested by investigating the effects of HOTAIR antisense DNA and siRNA on C2C12 cells using fluorescent microscopy, performing quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reactions (gRT-PCR) and gene arrays as well as measuring intracellular calcium concentration. The significance of this study is embedded within its potential to provide better understanding of the function of IncRNAs on skeletal muscle development which under pathophysiology conditions could expedite the delivery of creative and effective therapeutic solutions to skeletal muscle disorders and diseases. This work also provides a foundation for continued collaboration between the College of Nursing and Health Innovation and Department of Chemistry at the University of Texas-Arlington.

Chapter 2

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND METHODOLOGY

2.1 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The conceptual framework for this study is the skeletal muscle myogenesis model (Fig 2-1). Skeletal muscle development commences with myogenic quiescent satellite cells that await activation.^{14, 50} Upon activation, the satellite cells undergo asymmetric division by which they can self-renew or enter the myogenic pathway and differentiate into muscle.^{14, 50} As myogenesis ensues, committed satellite cells become myoblasts.⁵⁰ Myoblasts are mononucleated cells that can continually proliferate via mitosis in response to specific signals, some of which have yet to be identified.⁵⁰⁻⁵¹ Myoblasts in response to differentiation signals may also exit the cell cycle and fuse with other myoblasts to become myotubes.^{50, 51b, 52}As myoblasts fuse they become enlarged and take on the tubular elongated shape of myotubes.^{50, 52} Myogenesis takes place not only during embryonic development but also throughout the life span in response to growth and muscle injury.^{14, 50}

Aging and disease can introduce many physiological as well as molecular changes in skeletal muscle which can disrupt the regulation of myogenesis.²⁰ Recent studies have shown that factors other than proteins such as non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) can alter myogenesis as a result of aging and disease.⁵³ With the recent discovery of Hox Transcript Antisense Intergenic RNA (*HOTAIR*) which has been observed as an oncogenic molecule in several cancers, discovering its role in skeletal muscle is entailing.^{43, 54} One way to further explore the role of *HOTAIR* in skeletal muscle is to compare muscle formation in skeletal muscle cells lacking *HOTAIR* with those that have normal expression. This study is therefore an in vitro design in which the myogenesis of

HOTAIR-silenced mouse skeletal muscle cells was compared with the myogenesis of mouse skeletal muscle cells with unperturbed expression of *HOTAIR*.



Figure 2-1 **Skeletal Muscle Myogenesis Model**. Schematic drawing of myogenic progenitor cells activating to become myoblasts that proliferate or differentiate into myotubes via fusion with other myoblasts.

2.2 RESEARCH DESIGN

In vitro Studies

The studies were performed using an in vitro experimental design. In vitro designs involve the investigation of a living system in a controlled environment outside of the living organism.⁵⁵ The in vitro experimental design provides a reliable and often feasible method for exploring and manipulating a living system.^{55b, 56} The in vitro design has been used historically in a variety of techniques for amplifying DNA, purifying proteins, fertilizing eggs and differentiating myogenic cells.^{55a, 56-57} The advantages of using an in vitro design are plentiful in regards to reduced cost, direct manipulation of the

intricate parts of the living system and bypass of several ethical considerations stipulated by human or animal subjects. While some may argue that in vitro studies provide a skewed view of the mechanisms occurring within an intact living organism, a particular advantage of using in vitro differentiation of myogenic cells in this study is that it is a replica of the in vivo process that takes place during muscle repair and damage.^{55, 58} In vitro studies are also considered an initial important step before animals are used due to ethical considerations.

C2C12 Cell Line

The commercially available C2C12 cell line was used in the in vitro experimental design. C2C12 cell line was originally obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA, USA). C2C12 myoblast cells proliferate rapidly in cell culture and they can differentiate rapidly (5-7 days) from myoblasts to form myotubes, also known as muscle cells. The C2C12 cell line is useful for studying myoblast proliferation and differentiation, as well as basic functional and biochemical studies. The culture and effective manipulation of these cells has been firmly established in the Brotto laboratory where these studies were conducted.⁵⁹

Scope of Investigation

HOTAIR is a long non coding RNA (IncRNA) that is transcribed from the antisense strand of the HOXC gene locus of chromosome 12. Recent studies identify HOTAIR as an epigenetic gene repressor. Although there is a substantial amount of data suggesting important functions of HOTAIR in several human and mouse cells and tissues, very little knowledge exists about HOTAIR functions in skeletal muscle.⁴³⁻⁴⁴ To explore the impact of HOTAIR on skeletal muscle cell growth and development, we knockdown *HOTAIR* in mouse skeletal muscle cells and analyzed the impact on cell proliferation and differentiation. To knockdown *HOTAIR*, a synthetically designed *HOTAIR* antisense DNA and siRNA were used in separate experiments. To investigate the underlying effect of *HOTAIR* in C2C12 cells, a series of gene expression, gene array, immunostaining and calcium imaging analyses were employed during cell differentiation.⁵⁹

2.3 C2C12 CELL CULTURE

Myoblast Proliferation

Cryopreserved C2C12 cells were thawed in a 37°C water bath. The cells were then transferred to a 15mL canonical tube containing 5mL of pre-warmed complete growth media [CGM, high-glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Mediatech Inc., Manassas, VA) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS from Thermo Fischer Scientific Inc. Waltham, MA), and 100 U/mL penicillin/100 µg/mL streptomycin (penicillin-streptomycin (P/S) 10,000 U/mL each from Mediatech Inc. (Manassas, VA, USA)] and gently mixed. Cells were then centrifuged at 500 rpm for 5 minutes to remove the dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) used in cryopreservation. Upon removal of the supernatant, the cells were re-suspended in 4 mL of warm CGM. From this suspension, a 10µL aliquot was used for cell counting using a hemacytometer. For cell proliferation, 100 x 10⁴ cells were plated in 6 six-well plates and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂. As C2C12 cells can spontaneously differentiate when fully confluent, the cells were passaged after 48 hours at 60% confluency to ensure that they remained undifferentiated.^{59a, 59b}

Myogenic Differentiation

To induce the differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts, the same protocol for maintaining myoblasts was employed but with the substitution of CGM with differentiation

medium [DM, high-glucose DMEM with 2% horse serum (horse serum from Thermo Fischer Scientific Inc. Waltham, MA), and 100 U/mL penicillin/ 100 µg/mL streptomycin].^{59b}

2.4 HOTAIR ANTISENSE DNA TRANSFECTION ASSAY

To knock down HOTAIR expression in C2C12 cells, 10x10⁴ cells/well were plated in 6-well plates and grown to 70% confluency in complete growth media (CGM) before transfection with HOTAIR antisense DNA. C2C12 cells were transfected with the HOTAIR antisense DNA designed by the laboratory of Dr. Subhrangsu Mandal, Department of Chemistry, University of Texas-Arlington (sequence is shown in Figure 1) with concentrations of either 200nM or 500nM using the Lipofectamine RNAiMax reagent (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). The transfection reagent cocktail of a total volume of 1mL was applied to the cells followed by incubation for 24 hours at 37°C. After 24 hours, the cells were supplemented with 1mL of CGM and allowed to grow another 24 hours prior to harvesting the cells for RNA extraction and immunofluorescence staining. To detect the effect of HOTAIR on C2C12 cell differentiation, 48 hours after transfection, the media of the C2C12 cells was changed from CGM to DM and C2C12 cells were allowed to differentiate for 72 hours prior to harvesting the cells for RNA extraction and Myosin Heavy Chain antibody (MHC)/DAPI staining. Cell in the presence of just the Lipofectamine RNAiMAX reagent or without any additives was used as internal controls, while the negative control also contained a scrambled sequence of the probe.

5'-T*C*T*C*T*C*T*G*T*A*C*T*C*C*C*G*T*T*C*C*C-3' *= _____

Figure 2-2 HOTAIR antisense DNA sequence

2.5 HOTAIR siRNA TRANSFECTION ASSAY

Although transfections with antisense DNA can provide satisfactory results, siRNAs often have more intracellular stability and are more specific to the target RNA. To achieve potentially greater knockdown of *HOTAIR* in C2C2 cells, 6x10⁴ cells were plated in 6-well plates and grown to 50% confluency prior to transfection with the *HOTAIR* Silencer Select n519437 siRNA (ThermoFisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA). The siRNA transfection assay mirrored that of the antisense DNA transfection with the usage of 2nM, 5nM, 10nM, 25nM, 50nM or 100nM siRNA. After 24 and 48 hours of proliferation following the transfection, C2C12 cells were harvested for RNA extraction. After 72 hours of differentiation following the transfection, the cells were harvested for RNA extraction and MHC/DAPI staining. For calcium imaging experiments, the cells were allowed to differentiate for 5 days post-transfection prior to analysis to allow these experiments to be conducted in myotubes.^{59b-d}

2.6 HOTAIR siRNA TRANSFECTION EFFICIENCY

To evaluate the efficiency of the HOTAIR siRNA transfection in C2C12 cells, BLOCK-iT[™] Fluorescent Oligo (ThermoFisher Scientific) was used as a negative control of the *HOTAIR* siRNA transfection. BIOCK-iT[™] is a fluorescein-labeled double stranded RNA that is non-specific to any known genes and is of the same dimensions and configurations of standard siRNAs. The transfection procedure was followed according to the manufacturer's instructions using the Lipofectamine RNAiMAX reagent at the recommended concentration of 100nM (Invitrogen). The transfection efficiency was subsequently assessed via fluorescence imaging after 24 and 48 hours following the transfection using the Olympus IX73 Inverted Research microscope and camera. The cellSens Dimension Imaging software was used for the imaging acquisition and calculation of the percentage of the total number of cells with the fluorescent tag within the total number of cells to obtain the transfection efficiency.

2.7 QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME PCR (RT-qPCR)

An aliquot of the purified RNA sample (500ng/µL) with the A260/280nm absorbance ratio at 1.8 or above was reverse transcribed into Complementary DNA (cDNA) in a 20µL reaction volume using the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystem, Foster City, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA was amplified using the RT² SYBR Green qPCR Mastermix (SABioscience, Frederick, MD) on the ABI 7300 Real-Time PCR instrument using primers specific for the myogenic marker genes, Myoblast Determination Protein (MyoD), Myogenin (MyoG), Myosin Heavy Chain (MHC) and Myostatin. The expressions of HOTAIR and its target, Homeobox D10 (HOXD10), and coordinate enzyme partners, Enhancer of Zeste 2 Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 subunit (EZH2) and Lysine-specific Histone Demethylase 1 (LSD1) were also analyzed for additional insight of HOTAIR knockdown. The RT-gPCR reactions were triplicated for each treated and control samples and a notemplate and minus reverse transcriptase (RT) controls were included to detect contamination or genomic DNA presence. The specificity of the HOTAIR RT-qPCR reaction was further validated using a 12µL aliquot of the PCR product for gel electrophoresis (30 minutes, 100 volts, 400mA). Ct values were normalized to GAPDH (Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) and gene expression was determined as up/down regulation of the gene of interest compared to the control.

МуоG	F: TGAGCATTGTCCAGGCCAG R: GCTTCTCCCTCAGTGTGGCT
Myostatin	F: ATCCACCACGGTGCTAATG R: GGGAGAGAGAGACTCGTACTT
МНС	F:CAAGTCATCGGTGTTTGTGG R: TGTCGTACTTGGGCGGGTTC
МуоD	F:CCCCGGCGGCAGAATGGCTACG R:GGTCTGGGTTCCCTGTTCTGTGT
HOTAIR 1	F: TCCAGATGGAAGGAACTCCAGACA R: ATAGATGTGCGTGGTCAGATCGCT
HOTAIR 2	F: CCTTATAAGCTCATCGGAGCA R: CATTTCTGGGTGGTTCCTTT
EZH2	F: CTAATTGGTACTTACTACGATAACTTT R: ACTCTAAACTCATACACCTGTCTACAT
LSD1	F: AGCGGGCCAAGGTAGAATACA R: ATGGGGAAGTCGGCTTTGAAA
HOXD10	F: AACAGATCTTGTCGAATAGAGCAAC R: GGGCTGTTATTGTACTCTTGGGTTT
GAPDH	F: TCTGATGGGTGTGAACCACGAGAA R: GAGCCCTTCCACAATGCCAAAGTT

Table 2-1 Primer Sequences

2.8 RT-PCR GENE ARRAY

To investigate potential molecular pathways affected by *HOTAIR* knockdown, the gene expression of C2C12 cells transfected with 25nM of *HOTAIR* siRNA after 24 hours of proliferation was analyzed using the Mouse Signal Transduction PathwayFinder PCR array (PAMM-014Z) (SABioscience). The total RNA extracted from the treated and untreated C2C12 cells was purified and quantitated as previously described. A 500ng aliquot of the RNA was used to synthesize the cDNA using the RT² First Strand Kit (From Qiagen) and amplified by real time PCR using the RT² SYBR Green qPCR Mastermix on the ABI Step One Plus instrument (SABioscience). The array profiled the expression of 84 genes within 10 pathways that are important for developmental, metabolic, oxidative

stress, immunological and stress-activated processes and that are responsive to signal transduction pathway activation or deactivation (Table 2-1). The PCR reaction was triplicated and validated against 6 housekeeping genes and assay controls on the array plate. Data were analyzed using the web-based RT² Profiler[™] PCR Array Data Analysis Software (SABscience); Ct values were normalized to six built-in reference housekeeping genes, genomic DNA control, reverse transcription control, and positive PCR control. We used this analytical software to set the statistical significance of up/down regulation of all tested genes at 2-fold difference. Some major advantages of this methodology are the reliability, accuracy and the validation of gene expression by the manufacturer at the protein level.

NFκB Pathway	Ccl5 (Rantes), Bcl2a1a (Bfl-1/A1), Bcl2I1 (Bcl-x), Birc3 (c-IAP1), Csf1 (Mcsf), Icam1, Ifng, Stat1, Tnf
Oxidative Stress Pathway	Nqo1, Fth1, Gclc, Gclm, Gsr, Hmox1, Sqstm1,Txn1, Txnrd1
p53 Pathway	Bax, Bbc3, Btg2, Cdkn1a (p21Cip1/Waf1), Egfr, Fas (Tnfrsf6), Gadd45a, Pcna, Rb1
Notch Pathway	Hes1, Hes5, Hey1, Hey2, Heyl, Id1, Jag1, Lfng, Notch1
Hedgehog Pathway	Bcl2, Bmp2, Bmp4, Ptch1, Wnt1, Wnt2b, Wnt3a, Wnt5a, Wnt6
PPAR Pathway	Acsl3, Acsl4, Acsl5, Cpt2, Fabp1, Olr1, Slc27a4, Sorbs1
Hypoxia Pathway	Adm, Arnt, Car9, Epo, Hmox1, Ldha, Serpine1 (PAI-1), Slc2a1, Vegfa
TGFß Pathway	Atf4, Cdkn1b (p27Kip1), Emp1, Gadd45b, Herpud1, Ifrd1, Myc, Tnfsf10
WNT Pathway	Axin2, Ccnd1, Ccnd2, Dab2, Fosl1 (Fra-1), Mmp7 (Matrilysin), Myc, Ppard, Wisp1
JAK/STAT Pathway JAK1, 2 / STAT1: STAT3: STAT5: JAK1, 3 / STAT6:	Irf1 Bcl2I1 (Bcl-x), Ccnd1, Cebpd, Lrg1, Mcl1, Socs3 Bcl2I1 (Bcl-x), Ccnd1, Socs3 Fcer2a, Gata3

Table 2-2 Mouse Signal Transduction Pathway Finder PCR Array Genes

2.9 IMMUNOSTAINING AND FUSION INDEX

MHC Staining

To further investigate the phenotypic changes induced by *HOTAIR* knockdown on C2C12 differentiation, myosin heavy chain (MHC) was stained following 72 hours of differentiation after transfection. For staining MHC, the culture medium (DM) was removed, followed by washing each well in the 6-well plate with 2mL 1X phosphate buffered saline/well (PBS, Fisher Scientific International Inc., Fair Lawn, NJ). Following the removal of the PBS, the cells were fixed with 1mL/well of 10% neutral buffered formalin solution (NBF, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 10 minutes. After removal of the NBF, the cells were washed 3 times with 2mL/well PBS and placed on a shaker for 5 minutes. The cells were subsequently permeabilized on the shaker with 1mL/well of 0.1% Triton X-100 for 10 minutes followed by 3 more washes in PBS. Cells were stained with 20µL/ml of carboxy fluorescein (CFS) conjugated MHC antibody (R&D system, Minneapolis, MN, USA) in TBST (PBS with 0.1% Tween20 and 0.1% Triton X-100) in the dark, wrapped with foil and gently shaken for 1 hour at room temperature.

DAPI Staining

For nuclei staining, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole hydrochloride hydrate was used (DAPI, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), after removing the Triton X-100 solution from the wells, DAPI at 1:1000 dilution from stock (1mg/ml) in 1XTBST was used in the dark at 1ml/well. The cells were wrapped with foil and gently shaken for 5 minutes prior to washing in the dark 3 times with PBS. For cells transfected with the *HOTAIR* antisense DNA, imaging of the cells was done with 1ml of PBS in each well using the 20X objective of the Nikon Eclipse TS100 microscope and acquired using the NIS Elements Advanced Research imaging software. For cells transfected with the *HOTAIR* siRNA, imaging was done using the 20X objective of the Olympus IX73 Inverted Research Microscope and acquired using the cellSens Dimension imaging software.

Fusion Index

The fusion index is a quantitative measurement that determines the in vitro efficiency of myoblast fusion in myotube formation and is defined by the number of nuclei in myotubes divided by the total number of nuclei.^{59d} Following MHC and DAPI staining, six randomly selected fields in each sample were imaged and acquired. Myotubes with two or more nuclei were identified by the expression of MHC (green). The number of nuclei (blue) in myotubes and total nuclei in the six fields were counted in each field by manual and automatic calculation using ImageJ and the cellSens Dimension software. The fusion index was calculated as the percentage of total nuclei incorporated into myotubes compared to the total number of nuclei.

2.10 INTRACELLULAR CALCIUM IMAGING

Calcium is a critical signaling molecule in skeletal muscle cells due to its stimulatory effect on muscle contraction and gene expression. To investigate the effects of knockdown of *HOTAIR* on muscle function, since changes in intracellular calcium release can provide insight on the force and speed of muscle contractions, and calcium homeostasis is a hallmark of muscle health and disease.^{10, 60} Calcium imaging studies were conducted on C2C12 cells transfected with 25nM of *HOTAIR* siRNA. C2C12 cells were seeded with 6x10⁴ cells/dish in Nunc[™] glass bottom dishes (Thermo Scientific) in CGM and transfected with 25nM of *HOTAIR* siRNA at 50% confluency as previously described.^{59d} After 48 hours in culture, the CGM was exchanged with DM to differentiate myoblasts into myotubes. When mature myotubes were formed at day 5 of differentiation, DM was aspirated and the cells were gently washed 5 times with 1mL of Ringer solution containing 2.5mM Ca²⁺ (145mM NaCl, 5mM KCl, 1.6 mM MgCl₂, 10mM HEPES and 2.5mM CaCl₂ adjusted to a pH of 7.4). The fluorescent dye Fura-2 AM (acetoxymethyl) is a highly specific calcium indicator that is ratiometric and UV excitable. To load the Fura-2AM dye into the cells, a 4 μ L (1mM in DMSO) aliquot of the dye was added to a 500 μ L solution of Ringer and gently mixed several times by pippetting. The solution was sonicated for 90 seconds to allow for thorough separation of Fura-2AM from DMSO. A subsequent addition of 500 μ L of Ringer was added to the Fura-2AM solution and gently mixed several times by pippetting. The cells were then incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C to promote Fura-2AM entry, after which they were placed at room temperature for 25 minutes to allow for de-esterification of Fura-2AM to the active Fura-2 form.

After 25 minutes of de-esterification, the dish was mounted on the stage of the Nikon Eclipse Ti Microscope connected to a spectrofluorometer system (Photon Technology International Inc., PTI, London, Ontario). The 10X objective was then used to locate a field with several robust and mature myotubes. The "in" and "out" perfusion tubes of the perfusion system (Bioscience Tools, San Diego, CA) were then placed directly in the vicinity of the myotubes of interests to allow for specific and quick delivery of caffeine during the stimulatory step. The calcium imaging was then performed under the 40x objective. With the use of an automatic monochromator (PTI) with excitation wavelengths set at 340 and 380 to detect bound Fura and unbound Fura-2, ratiometric measurements at 340/380nm were taken in response to fluctuations of intracellular calcium concentration using the EasyRatio Pro software (PTI). For each experimental dish, 5-6 myotubes were selected in one field of view for simultaneous analysis. To ensure that background changes did not perturb measurements, a region of interest with

low fluorescence intensity was selected. A baseline reading was performed for 2 minutes prior to activating the perfusion system for caffeine delivery. The caffeine perfusion was stopped after observation of intracellular calcium release indicated by an increase of fluorescence excitation at 340nm along with decreased excitation intensity at 380nm. Perfusion with Ringer solution was initiated as the caffeine perfusion ended to re-acquire a baseline Ca²⁺ measurement.^{59b-d}



В

Α

AM Ester Loading



Figure 2-3 Molecular structure and schematic drawing of Fura-2AM entry into the cell. (*A*) Molecular structure of Fura-2. (*B*) The non-polar property of the Fura-2AM allows
for easy diffusion through the cellular membrane de-esterification of Fura-2AM by

intracellular esterases yields the polar Fura-2

which remains in the cell.61

Chapter 3

RESULTS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Skeletal muscle development from myogenic progenitor cells to myoblasts and myotubes is an important process to investigate for the purposes of developing targeted therapies against muscle illness and disorder. Furthermore, while our understanding of the basic biology of myogenesis has greatly advanced, many challenges remain unsolved.⁶² Given that myogenesis is a dynamic cellular interdependent process, it is reasonable to hypothesize that there are additional factors at interplay with the myogenic transcription factors, MyoG, MyoD, MHC and myostatin. A relevant example that supports this hypothesis is the recent study that identified LSD1 as a critical myogenic regulatory factor as it removes repressive histone epigenetic marks during myoblast differentiation into myotubes.⁴⁹ Ezh2 is another histone modifying factor that is associated with myogenesis. Down regulation of *Ezh2* in mouse somites has been shown to coincide with activation of muscle gene expression and myoblast differentiation.⁴⁷

As discussed in chapter 1, *HOTAIR* is a long non-coding RNA that can act as an epigenetic transcription repressor when it tethers the PRC2 and LSD1 repressive enzymatic complexes. Thus, genomic regions where *HOTAIR* is found due its association with PRC2 and LSD1 will result in repressive chromatin structure and low transcription. Due to its silencing effect on cell cycle regulatory genes, *HOTAIR* has been implicated in several cancers. Although it has been shown that *HOTAIR* is preferentially expressed in human myogenic progenitor cells compared to human lung fibroblasts (NHLF), lymphoblasts (LCL), umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), embryonic stem cells (ESC), its association with *LSD1* and *EZH2* and overall effect in skeletal muscle has yet to become entirely deciphered.⁶³ This section provides the results of testing the

hypothesis that *HOTAIR* knockdown will result in dysregulation of myogenesis due to derecruitment of Ezh2 and LSD1 from chromatin, which should lead to changes in the expression of these genes. To knockdown *HOTAIR* we employed the use of antisense DNA and siRNA in separate yet procedurally parallel experiments. We also examine dose response of *HOTAIR* antisense DNA and siRNA on C2C12 cells quantitatively and qualitatively. We monitored the efficiency of the knockdown with RT-qPCR and PCR gel electrohopresis. We assessed the effects of *HOTAIR* knockdown on the gene expression of myogenic markers, *HOTAIR* coordinate partners, *Ezh2* and *Lsd1* and its known target, *HOXD10*. In addition to gene expression, we performed gene arrays on canonical mouse signal transduction pathways and examined myotube morphological and biochemical changes by immunofluorescence, Fusion Index, and calcium imaging as a surrogate of calcium homeostasis status.

3.2 HOTAIR ANTISENSE DNA TRANSFECTION RESULTS

HOTAIR antisense DNA partially inhibits HOTAIR in C2C12 cells

As a preliminary experiment for our studies on *HOTAIR* in C2C12 cells, *HOTAIR* antisense DNA was used to knockdown *HOTAIR*.^{46c} Subsequent RT-qPCR was done to examine the effectiveness of *HOTAIR* knockdown by *HOTAIR* antisense DNA on gene expression. C2C12 cells were treated with varying concentrations (200nM and 500nM) of *HOTAIR* antisense DNA prior to RNA isolation at day 2 of proliferation and day 3 of differentiation. The relative expression of *HOTAIR* in cells treated with 200nM and 500nM of antisense DNA during day 2 of proliferation is respectively 33% and 38% less than the blank controls when normalized to *GAPDH* expression, which was unaltered in the blank and reagent controls (not shown) (Fig 3-1A). *HOTAIR* expression was measured again on day 3 of differentiation to investigate the extent of the knockdown. Interestingly,

whereas *HOTAIR* gene expression remains relatively unchanged with only a 9% decrease in expression in cells treated with 200nM of *HOTAIR* antisense DNA, there is a 53% decrease in *HOTAIR* expression with cells treated with 500nM of *HOTAIR* antisense DNA (Fig 3-1*B*).





HOTAIR antisense DNA. (*A*) HOTAIR gene expression on day 2 of proliferation after transfection with HOTAIR antisense DNA decreased in cells treated with HOTAIR

antisense DNA relative to *GAPDH*, which was unaltered in the blank control. N=1 (*B*) *HOTAIR* gene expression on day 3 of differentiation returned to baseline in cells treated with 200nM of antisense DNA but remained low in cells treated with 500nM of antisense

DNA relative to GAPDH, which was unaltered in the blank control. N=1

Partial knockdown of HOTAIR alters myogenic gene expression

To assess the effect of partial *HOTAIR* knockdown on the gene expression of the myogenic markers, RT-qPCR was performed on day 2 of proliferation and on day 3 of differentiation. The expression of the myogenesis activating factors, *MyoG*, *MyoD* and *MHC*, decreased in expression in cells treated with 500nM of antisense DNA (Fig 3-2A). For cells treated with 200nM of antisense DNA, only *MyoD* decreased in expression. *Myostatin*, a negative regulator of muscle mass, increased in expression in cells treated with both 200nM and 500nM of antisense DNA. On day 3 of differentiation, the gene expression of all of the myogenic markers decreases in cells treated with 200nM of antisense DNA is much more complex; *MHC* and *MyoD* increased in expression while *MyoG* and *Myostatin* decreased in expression, perhaps reflecting the potential unspecific effects of a much higher dose of the antisense.



3-2 Gene expression of Myogenic Determination Protein (*MyoD*), Myogenin (*MyoG*), Myosin Heavy Chain (*MHC*) and *Myostatin* relative to *GAPDH* in C2C12 cells after transfection with *HOTAIR* antisense DNA (*A*) The gene expression of the myogenic

markers on day 2 of proliferation relative to *GAPDH*, which was unaltered in the blank control. (*B*) The gene expression of the myogenic markers on day 3 of differentiation relative to *GAPDH*, which was unaltered in the blank control. (N=2)

Partial Knockdown of HOTAIR inhibits myoblast differentiation

To further explore the function of *HOTAIR* in C2C12 myoblast differentiation, after two days of proliferation following the transfection with *HOTAIR* antisense DNA, the growth media of the cells was exchanged with differentiation media containing horse serum to induce myoblast fusion into myotubes. The cells were visualized daily for phenotypic changes compared to the blank control and analyzed by immunofluorescence after three days of differentiation. Six random image areas were used for all quantifications with 60-120 myotubes being analyzed per specific condition/treatment. DAPI and MHC staining (Fig. 3-3*A*) revealed a significant decrease in myotube formation in the cells treated with *HOTAIR* antisense DNA. The number of mature myotubes with three or more nuclei as indicated by the fusion index (Fig. 3-3*B*) in the treated cells is nearly half of the mature myotube count in the untreated cells. Whether the fusion index disparity between the treated and untreated cells is a direct consequence of *HOTAIR* knockdown or cellular death due to the toxicity of the antisense DNA cocktails remains unknown given that a scrambled control was not assessed in parallel.





Α



Figure 3-3 Partial knockdown of *HOTAIR* in C2C12 cells effectively reduced fusion index after transfection with *HOTAIR* antisense DNA (*A*) Representative

immunofluorescence images of DAPI-stained nuclei (blue) and Myosin Heavy Chain (MHC) antibody (green) of C2C12 cells on day 3 of differentiation after transfection: (i, 200nM; iii, 500nM) blank controls and (ii, iv) 200nM and 500nM *HOTAIR*-antisense DNA-treated cells. (B) Fusion index data shows a significant decrease in mature myotubes expressing MHC after treatment with *HOTAIR* antisense DNA compared to the blank control. *N=6*, *p<0.05*

3.3 HOTAIR siRNA TRANSFECTION RESULTS

Transfection efficiency confirms HOTAIR siRNA intracellular delivery in C2C12 myoblasts

The studies with the anti-sense probe were preliminary in nature but paved the way for the next phase of our studies, where we aimed to achieve a better understanding of the purpose and function of *HOTAIR* in C2C12 cells. The preliminary studies using antisense DNA to knockdown *HOTAIR* revealed interesting changes in the genetic and morphological phenotype of the treated C2C12 cells. However, the use of the high concentrations of antisense DNA in the absence of a scrambled control to assess the full effect of the experimental conditions on the cells might challenge the validity of our results. To achieve *HOTAIR* knockdown at a potentially higher degree with less cellular toxicity, we substituted the *HOTAIR* antisense DNA with *HOTAIR* siRNA. The efficiency of the siRNA uptake in the C2C12 myoblasts was assessed using 100nM of the BLOCK-iT Flourescent Oligo negative control siRNA. The imaging and detection of fluorescent-positive cells was done twenty-four hours after transfection (Fig. 3-4*A*). The transfection efficiency was determined as 88.6% \pm 3.52% (Fig. 3-4*B*). When compared to a blank control, the morphology of the cells treated with the negative control did not differ in any regard (Fig. 3-4A i, iii). To further examine the effectiveness of the knockdown by

HOTAIR siRNA (25nM) on gene expression we performed RT-qPCR and report a 38.1% \pm 7.47% reduction in *HOTAIR* expression compared to the negative control when normalized to *GAPDH*, which was unaltered in the negative control.

Α





Figure 3-4 High transfection efficiency of negative control siRNA in C2C12 cells yields partial knockdown of *HOTAIR*. (*A*) Representative images of C2C12 myoblasts 24 hours after transfection with BLOCK-iT Flourescent Oligo negative control siRNA (100nM): (i) phase contrast image, (ii) fluorescent image, (iii) merged images

В



taken from the same representative area. To quantify the positive uptake, five different areas (average of 290 cells) were analyzed. Under these conditions, the transfection efficiency was determined as $88.6\% \pm 3.52\%$ which resulted in a $38.1\% \pm 7.47\%$ lower expression of *HOTAIR* as detected by RT-qPCR (25nM siRNA). (N=3)

RT-qPCR reveals prolonged reduction of HOTAIR expression in proliferating C2C12 cells

To assess the specificity, extent, and duration of HOTAIR knockdown in C2C12 cells, we first confirmed the specificity of the HOTAIR primers used for the RT-gPCR reactions with gel electrophoresis (Fig. 5-3A). Next, HOTAIR expression was quantitated using RT-qPCR on days 1 and 2 of proliferation and on day 3 of differentiation after transfection with varying concentrations of siRNA (2nM, 5nM, 10nM, 25nM, 50nM, 100nM). On day 1 of proliferation, HOTAIR expression was significantly reduced in all treatment groups (25nM, 50nM, and 100nM of siRNA when normalized to GAPDH), which was unaltered in the negative control (Fig. 3-5B). On day 2 of proliferation, similar levels of reduction in HOTAIR expression to those seen at day 1 are still present. On day 3 of differentiation, HOTAIR expression returned to baseline for all treatments when normalized by GAPDH, which was unaltered in the negative control, (Fig. 3-5C) likely reflecting the exhaustion of the siRNA. The knockdown efficiency determined by the RTqPCR results from days 1 and 2 of proliferation provided the basis for continuing subsequent gene array, immunofluorescence and calcium imaging experiments selectively with 25nM of HOTAIR siRNA. Furthermore, the levels of reduction with 25nM of approximately 40% were very similar to the levels of reduction with 200nM in the antisense series of experiments.



Figure 3-5 *HOTAIR* specificity and expression in C2C12 cells during proliferation and differentiation after transfection with *HOTAIR* siRNA. (*A*) Gel electrophoresis

confirmed the specificity of the *HOTAIR* primers used for the RT-qPCR reactions. The HOTAIR-1 primer, used in the RT-qPCR experiments with the *HOTAIR* antisense DNA amplifies a 179 base pair fragment from the mouse *HOTAIR* gene. The HOTAIR-2 primer used primarily in the siRNA experiments amplifies a 111 base pair fragment: (1, 6) 25nM

HOTAIR siRNA treatment; (2, 7) blank controls; (3, 8) internal reagent controls; (4, 9) internal negative controls; (5) No cDNA blank control; (10) *GAPDH* positive control. (*N*=3,

p<0.05). (B) HOTAIR expression on day 1 was reduced to 61.8% ± 7.47%, 58.3% ±19.6%, and 69.8% ± 9.78% for cells treated with 25, 50 and 100nM of siRNA when normalized to GAPDH, which was unaltered in the negative control. Similar results were achieved when the treatments were compared against blank and vehicle controls. (C) HOTAIR expression returned to baseline on day 3 of differentiation for all treatments.

Partial HOTAIR knockdown dysregulates myogenic gene expression

HOTAIR, through its interactions with PRC2 and LSD1 is an epigenetic regulator and its deletion can result in the activation of hundreds of genes.⁶⁴ To investigate the potential genetic modulations in C2C12 cells induced by *HOTAIR* knockdown (25nM siRNA), RT-qPCR was performed using primers specific for the myogenic markers, *MyoD*, *MyoG*, *MHC* and *Myostatin*. When *HOTAIR* is activated, it transcriptionally represses *HOXD10* in trans mode.⁴¹ As a secondary confirmation of *HOTAIR* knockdown, the expression level of *HOXD10* was measured in addition to that of *EZH2* and *LSD1* (Fig. 3-6). Gene expression was measured on day 1 of proliferation (Fig. 3-6A) and day 3 of differentiation (Fig. 3-6B). On day 1 of proliferation, in the case of the expression levels of the myogenic markers, *MyoD* and *MHC* significantly decreased in expression, *MyoG* remained at baseline and Myostatin significantly increased. As predicted by the reduction in *HOTAIR* expression after knockdown, *HOXD10* significantly increased in expression. Interestingly, whereas *EZH2* was significantly reduced in expression, *LSD1* expression was significantly increased. On day 3 of differentiation, with the exception of *MyoD* and *MyoG* which remained at baseline, *MHC*, *Myostatin*, *HOXD10* and *LSD1* significantly increased in expression. *EZh2* expression, however, was significantly reduced. RT-qPCR experiments with C2C12 cells treated with 50nM and 100nM of *HOTAIR* siRNA were also conducted in tandem and yielded similar results as 25nM *HOTAIR* siRNA-treated cells. (*N=3*, *p<0.05*)



Figure 3-6 **RT-qPCR results of myogenic markers (***MyoD***,** *MyoG***,** *MHC***,** *Myostatin***),** *HOXD10***,** *EZH2* **and** *LSD1* **on day 1 of proliferation and day 3 of differentiation after transfection with 25nM of HOTAIR siRNA. (***A***) Gene expression of myogenic markers**

Α

В

(with the exception of *MyoG*) and *HOTAIR* associated genes significantly changed in expression on day 1 of proliferation when normalized to GAPDH, which was unaltered in the negative control: *MyoD*, *MHC*, and *EZH2* decreased; *Myostatin*, *HOXD10* and *LSD1* increased. (*B*) The RT-qPCR experiment was repeated on day 3 of differentiation. With the exception of *MyoD* and *MyoG*, all of the measured genes were significantly changed:

MHC, Myostatin, HOXD10 and LSD1 increased; EZH2 decreased. (N=3, p<0.05)

Partial knockdown of HOTAIR with siRNA confirms the inhibition of myoblast differentiation observed in the antisense DNA studies

To further validate the preliminary finding that HOTAIR knockdown by antisense DNA inhibits myoblast differentiation, we replicated the MHC and DAPI staining after transfecting C2C12 cells with HOTAIR siRNA (25nM). Additionally, given that the RTqPCR results indicated enhanced up-regulation of Myostatin we were interested in discovering the effect of gene expression on the MHC protein phenotype. As conducted in our preliminary experiment with antisense DNA, the growth media was exchanged with differentiation media containing horse serum to stimulate myoblast fusion into myotubes. The cells were visualized daily for phenotypic changes compared to the negative control and systemically analyzed by immunofluorescence on days 3 and 4 of differentiation (Fig 3-7). Six random image areas were used to quantify 40-100 myotubes per specific condition/treatment. As observed in the antisense DNA preliminary experiment, cells treated with HOTAIR siRNA experienced a significant reduction in the expression of MHC compared to the negative control on days 3 and 4 of differentiation as measured by the fusion index. Additionally, as observed in the preliminary experiment, the myotubes expressed by the transfected cells appeared thinner and less robust compared to the negative control.



Figure 3-7 Partial knockdown of *HOTAIR* in C2C12 cells effectively reduced fusion index after transfection with *HOTAIR* siRNA (*A*) Representative immunofluorescence

42

Differentiation Day 3

0

Differentiation Day 4

images of DAPI-stained nuclei (blue) and Myosin Heavy Chain (MHC) antibody (green) of C2C12 cells on days 3 and 4 of differentiation after transfection: (i, day 3; iii, day 4) negative controls (ii, day 3; iv, day 4) 25nM *HOTAIR* siRNA treatment. (B) Fusion index data shows a significant decrease in mature myotubes expressing MHC after treatment with *HOTAIR* siRNA compared to the negative control. (*N=6*, *p<0.05*)

Partial HOTAIR knockdown reduces resting levels of intracellular calcium and calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR)

Calcium is an important intracellular signaling molecule and essential for skeletal muscle contractions and movement. Disturbance of calcium homeostasis can result in a number of pathological disorders and dysregulation of skeletal muscle functioning.^{60e, 65} To investigate the influence of HOTAIR on resting intracellular calcium and SR calcium release, we monitored Fura-2 intracellular calcium in responses to caffeine-induced SR calcium release. In HOTAIR-siRNA treated C2C12 myotubes (25nM siRNA) at day 5 of differentiation, compared to the blank control, resting Ca²⁺ levels of the HOTAIR-siRNA treated cells decreased 14% (0.442 \pm 0.08 versus 0.514 \pm 0.08), the amplitude peak Ca²⁺ response to caffeine (i.e. time measured between the initial caffeine response to amplitude peak) was reduced by 33% (5.59 ± 2.19 versus 4.20 ±1.64), the peak level was reduced by 8.1% (0.723 vs 0.788) and the relaxation phase (ie. time to return from peak to baseline) as measured by exponential decay was 5.35% shorter (23.5 ± 0.876) versus 24.7 ± 0.769). Integration of the calcium transient peak correlates with total intracellular calcium levels. For the HOTAIR-siRNA treated cells, the intracellular calcium level as indicated by the area under the curve was reduced by 10% (262.2 vs. 291.4) (Fig 3-8).



Figure 3-8 *HOTAIR* knockdown alters the calcium transients induced by 20mM caffeine of C2C12 cells loaded with Fura-2/AM. (A) In *HOTAIR*-siRNA treated cells on day 5 of differentiation, the resting calcium baseline was reduced, the time to peak was

Α

В

longer and the relaxation phase of the transient was significantly shorter from that of the blank control. (*B*) Average calcium transients of the control and 25nM *HOTAIR*-siRNA treated cells loaded with Fura-2/AM. For *HOTAIR*-siRNA treated cells, the intracellular calcium concentration as measured by integration of the area under the curve is 10% less than the control. (N=16 blank control, N=12 siRNA, p<0.05)

Partial HOTAIR knockdown in C2C12 cells up-regulates genes within the NF**k**B and Oxidative Stress pathways

To explore the molecular mechanisms behind the significant alteration of myogenic gene expression and calcium homeostasis in *HOTAIR*-siRNA treated cells, a real-time PCR gene array was employed using the Mouse Signal Transduction Pathway PCR array. Differences in the gene expression of the control and the siRNA treated cells were measured across 10 different pathways as shown in Chapter 2, Table 2-2. Among the 84 genes profiled, we found two genes significantly altered (Fig. 3-9). In the *HOTAIR*-siRNA-treated cells the expression of Chemokine (C-C Motif) Ligand 5 (*Ccl5*) and NAD(P)H Dehydrogenase Quinone 1 (*Nqo1*) were significantly increased by 3.36 and 2.25 fold, respectively. These genes are directly related to the NFkB and Oxidative Stress pathways. These results suggest that *HOTAIR* may function through the NFkB and Oxidative Stress pathways to regulate myoblast differentiation and calcium homeostasis.



Figure 3-9 Gene array profiling results of 84 genes belonging to 10 canonical pathways monitored in *HOTAIR*-siRNA treated cells. (*A*) Normalized gene expression of all 84 gene array genes compared between the *HOTAIR*-siRNA treated cells and the

Α

В

blank control. The central line indicates unchanged gene expression. Significantly upregulated genes (fold change greater than 2.00) are shown in yellow, unchanged genes are shown in black and down regulated genes are shown in blue. (*B*) Gene expression of *Ccl5* and *Nqo1* show significant up-regulation in the *HOTAIR*-siRNA treated cells compared to the blank control when normalized to *Gusb* (Beta-D-Glucuronidase), which was unaltered in the blank control. (*N*=3, *p*<0.05)

Chapter 4

DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Long non-coding RNAs (IncRNAs) are an extensive class of molecules that were dismissed for several years as non-functional cellular "junk" entities on account of their ambiguous sequence function and poor conservation across species.⁶⁶ In recent years, however, IncRNAs have stimulated increased interest due to developing insights on their functional intracellular roles. Several studies have cited IncRNAs as transcriptional, translational and epigenetic regulators.^{41, 66-67} Hox Transcript Antisense Intergenic RNA (*HOTAIR*) is one example of a IncRNA that has been reported as an epigenetic transcriptional regulator. *HOTAIR* functions as a molecular scaffold through recruitment of Polycomb Repressor Complex 2 (PRC2) and Lysine-Specific Demethylase 1 (LSD1) to chromatin for repression of the homeobox gene D (HOXD) cluster.^{41-42, 43, 64, 68} While HOX genes are crucial in embryonic development, coincident with its pivotal role in gene regulation, *HOTAIR* has been extensively studied as an oncogenic molecule.^{42a, 44, 46a, 54, 69} Although there are several studies on the dysregulation of *HOTAIR* in cancer progression, there is still much to be understood about its overall systemic and metabolic effect.

Previous studies on IncRNAs in skeletal muscle reveal that transcription regulation through chromatin reorganization is critical during myogenesis, the concerted process of skeletal muscle generation and formation.⁷⁰ For example, current evidence suggest that the muscle-specific long noncoding RNAs, *linc-MD1* and *LncMyod* work together during the terminal differentiation stage of myogenesis to enhance myoblast fusion into multinucleated myotubes.⁷¹ The terminal differentiation stage in myogenesis is a tightly regulated process that is necessary for proper development and one that may involve collaboration with additional unexplored factors like *HOTAIR*. Recent studies on

LSD1 and EZH2, a subunit of PRC2, suggest a potentially critical role for *HOTAIR* in skeletal muscle. Reportedly, silencing *EZH2* in C2C12 cells significantly impairs muscle cell growth and reduces differentiating myotubes.^{5, 46c, 48b} Similarly, inhibiting *LSD1* in C2C12 cells hinders the activation of myogenic factors such as MEF2D that are involved in myogenic gene up-regulation during differentiation.⁷² Given the reported effects of EZH2 and LSD1 on skeletal muscle and their close association with *HOTAIR*, in the present study we aimed to decipher the mechanistic role of *HOTAIR* in skeletal muscle and we demonstrate that it is a functional entity required for myoblast differentiation.

In our pilot study we used antisense DNA to silence HOTAIR in C2C12 cells., Decreased fusion index and reduced expression of Myosin Heavy Chain (MHC) was found upon HOTAIR knockdown. Coincident with the decrease in MHC expression in differentiated myotubes was the increase in gene expression of the myogenic inhibitor, Myostatin. This observation provided the impetus for developing our final, systematic studies with HOTAIR siRNA. Remarkably, as we observed in the pilot studies, C2C12 cells treated with HOTAIR siRNA experienced a significant reduction in fusion index and in MHC expression compared to the negative control. In parallel, there was a significant reduction of the myogenic regulatory gene, Myogenic Determination Protein (MyoD) in proliferating myoblasts and an up-regulation of *Myostatin* in differentiating myotubes. Interestingly, EZH2 expression was also significantly reduced in proliferating myoblasts and differentiating myocytes treated with HOTAIR siRNA. In accord with substantiating work that signifies the role of HOTAIR in gene regulation through its recruitment of PRC2 to chromatin, a reduction in HOTAIR expression may explain the reduction of EZH2 expression given that the EZH2 protein is a subunit of PRC2. Moreover, the reduction of EZH2 expression in relation to the observed inhibitory effects of HOTAIR knockdown on myoblast differentiation aligns with current evidence that suggests the regulatory

importance of EZH2 in myogenic differentiation.^{47, 48b} Conversely, whereas *EZH2* expression was reduced upon *HOTAIR* knockdown, LSD1 expression significantly increased in myoblast proliferation and differentiation. This result may potentially be a compensatory effect induced by *EZH2* reduction or myogenic inhibition. Additionally this finding provides more clinical insight to recent reports that suggest that mutations in LSD1 contribute to deficiencies involving mental retardation and skeletal anomalies.⁷³

We end our systematic studies with an examination of the effect of HOTAIR knockdown on intracellular calcium homeostasis and the potential molecular mechanisms that might help begin to explain the roles of HOTAIR in skeletal muscle myogensis. Our calcium imaging results show that intracellular calcium homeostasis was altered in HOTAIR-siRNA treated myotubes. Resting levels of calcium, calcium-release and reuptake from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) are largely dependent on myotube functionality.⁷⁴ As noted from the fusion index of HOTAIR-siRNA treated C2C12 cells, the inhibition of differentiating myocytes is consistent with the reduced intracellular calcium release and re-uptake observed in our calcium imaging studies, in that, it would be expected that less mature myotubes would release less calcium from the SR. To begin to study the molecular mechanism of the effects of HOTAIR on C2C12 cells, we used the Mouse Signal Transduction PathwayFinder PCR array and found that the expression of two genes (Ccl5 and Nqo1) were significantly altered. Chemokine (C-C Motif) Ligand 5 (Ccl5) is located on murine chromosome 11 downstream from NFkB.75 Chemokines are typically involved in immunoregulatory and inflammatory processes. The earliest evidence of chemokine influence on skeletal muscle showed that Ccl5 increased myoblast migratory activity.^{59b, 76} Later work suggested that upregulaton of *Ccl5* expression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy could potentially attenuate myofiber necrosis.⁷⁷ In very recent work, the Brotto and Karasik Laboratories (Huang et al) tested

the in vitro data originating from 40,000 humans from Genome Wide Association Studies (GWAS) and found that *Mettl21C* appeared to be a pleiotropic gene for bone and muscle.^{59b} They also found that silencing of *Mettl21C* resulted in the upregulation of Ccl5 and very similar phenotypic changes in C2C12 myotubes as we find in our study.^{59b} Therefore, the upregulation of *Ccl5*, a key gene of the NFκB Pathway, in C2C12 cells after *HOTAIR*-siRNA mediated knockdown may suggest a potential mechanism through which *HOTAIR* modulates skeletal muscle myogenesis.

As for NAD(P)H Quinone Oxidoreductase 1 (Nqo1), which expresses one of the phase-II antioxidant enyzmes that catalyzes the two-electron reduction of quinones, the observed upregulation caused by HOTAIR-siRNA knockdown may be the result of an increased production of oxidative species.78 Perhaps less of a coincidence, the disturbance in the observed higher levels of resting calcium and calcium release in HOTAIR-siRNA treated cells is symptomatic of perhaps defective excitation-contraction coupling at the ryanodine receptor (RyR) due to oxidative stress, known to induce a "leaky" channel.⁷⁹ Moreover, the observed upregulation of *Ccl5* and *Ngo1* correlates with trends observed in skeletal muscle dystrophy. In dystrophic muscles, as time progresses, the repetitive cycling of muscle damage and repair can exhaust the regenerative capacity of the tissue and result in persistent inflammation.⁸⁰ Previous studies that examined oxidative stress in DMD patients and muscular dystrophic mice (mdx) have suggested that dystrophic muscles may have increased susceptibility to oxidative stress which may trigger an inflammatory response and result in NFκB activation.⁸¹ The implication for HOTAIR in this process is an unexplored area that can direct future studies. In summary, we explored for the first time the role of HOTAIR in skeletal muscle differentiation, calcium homeostasis, and signaling pathways. We demonstrate that HOTAIR inhibition reduces myoblast differentiation and alters calcium

homeostasis in mouse skeletal muscle cells, potentially via two genes related to the NFkB and Oxidative Stress pathways. These studies should provide the basis for indepth studies of *HOTAIR* function in skeletal muscle by extending its exploration to primary murine and human models as well as animal models.

References

1. Isaacson, J.; Brotto, M., Physiology of Mechanotransduction: How Do Muscle and Bone "Talk" to One Another? *Clinical reviews in bone and mineral metabolism* **2014**, *12* (2), 77-85.

2. (a) Park, K.; Lee, S.; Hong, Y.; Park, S.; Choi, J.; Chang, K. T.; Kim, J. H.; Hong, Y., Therapeutic physical exercise in neural injury: friend or foe? *Journal of physical therapy science* **2015**, *27* (12), 3933-5; (b) Izumiya, Y.; Araki, S.; Hanatani, S.; Ogawa, H., Beneficial Effects of Skeletal Muscle Growth on Cardiovascular Diseases. *Journal of Cardiac Failure* **2013**, *19* (10, Supplement), S123.

3. Frost, H. M.; Ferretti, J. L.; Jee, W. S., Perspectives: some roles of mechanical usage, muscle strength, and the mechanostat in skeletal physiology, disease, and research. *Calcified tissue international* **1998**, *62* (1), 1-7.

(a) Frost, H. M., Perspectives: a proposed general model of the "mechanostat" (suggestions from a new skeletal-biologic paradigm). *The Anatomical record* 1996, 244
(2), 139-47; (b) Marotti, G.; Ferretti, M.; Muglia, M. A.; Palumbo, C.; Palazzini, S., A quantitative evaluation of osteoblast-osteocyte relationships on growing endosteal surface of rabbit tibiae. *Bone* 1992, *13* (5), 363-8.

5. Nag, A. C.; Foster, J. D., Myogenesis in adult mammalian skeletal muscle in vitro. *Journal of anatomy* **1981,** *132* (Pt 1), 1-18.

6. Belizário, J. E.; Fontes-Oliveira, C. C.; Borges, J. P.; Kashiabara, J. A.; Vannier, E., Skeletal muscle wasting and renewal: a pivotal role of myokine IL-6. *SpringerPlus* **2016**, *5*, 619. Human physiology; an integrated approach, 4th ed. (CD-ROM included).
 Ringgold Inc: Portland, 2007; Vol. 31.

8. Jurkat-Rott, K.; Fauler, M.; Lehmann-Horn, F., Ion channels and ion transporters of the transverse tubular system of skeletal muscle. *Journal of muscle research and cell motility* **2006**, *27* (5-7), 275-90.

9. Dulhunty, A. F., Excitation-contraction coupling from the 1950s into the new millennium. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology* **2006**, *33* (9), 763-72.

10. Manring, H.; Abreu, E.; Brotto, L.; Weisleder, N.; Brotto, M., Novel excitationcontraction coupling related genes reveal aspects of muscle weakness beyond atrophynew hopes for treatment of musculoskeletal diseases. *Frontiers in physiology* **2014**, *5*, 37.

11. Choi, M. H.; Ow, J. R.; Yang, N.-D.; Taneja, R., Oxidative Stress-Mediated Skeletal Muscle Degeneration: Molecules, Mechanisms, and Therapies. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* **2016**, *2016*, 6842568.

12. Manring, H.; Abreu, E.; Brotto, L.; Weisleder, N.; Brotto, M., Novel excitationcontraction coupling related genes reveal aspects of muscle weakness beyond atrophy—new hopes for treatment of musculoskeletal diseases. *Frontiers in physiology* **2014**, *5*, 37.

Vos, T.; Flaxman, A. D.; Naghavi, M.; Lozano, R.; Michaud, C.; Ezzati, M.; Shibuya,
 K.; Salomon, J. A.; Abdalla, S.; Aboyans, V.; Abraham, J.; Ackerman, I.; Aggarwal, R.; Ahn,
 S. Y.; Ali, M. K.; Alvarado, M.; Anderson, H. R.; Anderson, L. M.; Andrews, K. G.; Atkinson,

C.; Baddour, L. M.; Bahalim, A. N.; Barker-Collo, S.; Barrero, L. H.; Bartels, D. H.; Basanez,

M. G.; Baxter, A.; Bell, M. L.; Benjamin, E. J.; Bennett, D.; Bernabe, E.; Bhalla, K.;

Bhandari, B.; Bikbov, B.; Bin Abdulhak, A.; Birbeck, G.; Black, J. A.; Blencowe, H.; Blore, J.

D.; Blyth, F.; Bolliger, I.; Bonaventure, A.; Boufous, S.; Bourne, R.; Boussinesq, M.;

Braithwaite, T.; Brayne, C.; Bridgett, L.; Brooker, S.; Brooks, P.; Brugha, T. S.; Bryan-

Hancock, C.; Bucello, C.; Buchbinder, R.; Buckle, G.; Budke, C. M.; Burch, M.; Burney, P.;

Burstein, R.; Calabria, B.; Campbell, B.; Canter, C. E.; Carabin, H.; Carapetis, J.; Carmona,

L.; Cella, C.; Charlson, F.; Chen, H.; Cheng, A. T.; Chou, D.; Chugh, S. S.; Coffeng, L. E.;

Colan, S. D.; Colquhoun, S.; Colson, K. E.; Condon, J.; Connor, M. D.; Cooper, L. T.;

Corriere, M.; Cortinovis, M.; de Vaccaro, K. C.; Couser, W.; Cowie, B. C.; Criqui, M. H.;

Cross, M.; Dabhadkar, K. C.; Dahiya, M.; Dahodwala, N.; Damsere-Derry, J.; Danaei, G.;

Davis, A.; De Leo, D.; Degenhardt, L.; Dellavalle, R.; Delossantos, A.; Denenberg, J.;

Derrett, S.; Des Jarlais, D. C.; Dharmaratne, S. D.; Dherani, M.; Diaz-Torne, C.; Dolk, H.;

Dorsey, E. R.; Driscoll, T.; Duber, H.; Ebel, B.; Edmond, K.; Elbaz, A.; Ali, S. E.; Erskine, H.;

Erwin, P. J.; Espindola, P.; Ewoigbokhan, S. E.; Farzadfar, F.; Feigin, V.; Felson, D. T.;

Ferrari, A.; Ferri, C. P.; Fevre, E. M.; Finucane, M. M.; Flaxman, S.; Flood, L.; Foreman, K.;

Forouzanfar, M. H.; Fowkes, F. G.; Franklin, R.; Fransen, M.; Freeman, M. K.; Gabbe, B. J.;

Gabriel, S. E.; Gakidou, E.; Ganatra, H. A.; Garcia, B.; Gaspari, F.; Gillum, R. F.; Gmel, G.;

Gosselin, R.; Grainger, R.; Groeger, J.; Guillemin, F.; Gunnell, D.; Gupta, R.; Haagsma, J.;

Hagan, H.; Halasa, Y. A.; Hall, W.; Haring, D.; Haro, J. M.; Harrison, J. E.; Havmoeller, R.;

Hay, R. J.; Higashi, H.; Hill, C.; Hoen, B.; Hoffman, H.; Hotez, P. J.; Hoy, D.; Huang, J. J.;

Ibeanusi, S. E.; Jacobsen, K. H.; James, S. L.; Jarvis, D.; Jasrasaria, R.; Jayaraman, S.;

Johns, N.; Jonas, J. B.; Karthikeyan, G.; Kassebaum, N.; Kawakami, N.; Keren, A.; Khoo, J.

P.; King, C. H.; Knowlton, L. M.; Kobusingye, O.; Koranteng, A.; Krishnamurthi, R.; Lalloo,

R.; Laslett, L. L.; Lathlean, T.; Leasher, J. L.; Lee, Y. Y.; Leigh, J.; Lim, S. S.; Limb, E.; Lin, J.

K.; Lipnick, M.; Lipshultz, S. E.; Liu, W.; Loane, M.; Ohno, S. L.; Lyons, R.; Ma, J.;

Mabweijano, J.; MacIntyre, M. F.; Malekzadeh, R.; Mallinger, L.; Manivannan, S.;

Marcenes, W.; March, L.; Margolis, D. J.; Marks, G. B.; Marks, R.; Matsumori, A.;

Matzopoulos, R.; Mayosi, B. M.; McAnulty, J. H.; McDermott, M. M.; McGill, N.;

McGrath, J.; Medina-Mora, M. E.; Meltzer, M.; Mensah, G. A.; Merriman, T. R.; Meyer, A.

C.; Miglioli, V.; Miller, M.; Miller, T. R.; Mitchell, P. B.; Mocumbi, A. O.; Moffitt, T. E.;

Mokdad, A. A.; Monasta, L.; Montico, M.; Moradi-Lakeh, M.; Moran, A.; Morawska, L.;

Mori, R.; Murdoch, M. E.; Mwaniki, M. K.; Naidoo, K.; Nair, M. N.; Naldi, L.; Narayan, K.

M.; Nelson, P. K.; Nelson, R. G.; Nevitt, M. C.; Newton, C. R.; Nolte, S.; Norman, P.;

Norman, R.; O'Donnell, M.; O'Hanlon, S.; Olives, C.; Omer, S. B.; Ortblad, K.; Osborne, R.;

Ozgediz, D.; Page, A.; Pahari, B.; Pandian, J. D.; Rivero, A. P.; Patten, S. B.; Pearce, N.;

Padilla, R. P.; Perez-Ruiz, F.; Perico, N.; Pesudovs, K.; Phillips, D.; Phillips, M. R.; Pierce,

K.; Pion, S.; Polanczyk, G. V.; Polinder, S.; Pope, C. A., 3rd; Popova, S.; Porrini, E.;

Pourmalek, F.; Prince, M.; Pullan, R. L.; Ramaiah, K. D.; Ranganathan, D.; Razavi, H.;

Regan, M.; Rehm, J. T.; Rein, D. B.; Remuzzi, G.; Richardson, K.; Rivara, F. P.; Roberts, T.;

Robinson, C.; De Leon, F. R.; Ronfani, L.; Room, R.; Rosenfeld, L. C.; Rushton, L.; Sacco, R.

L.; Saha, S.; Sampson, U.; Sanchez-Riera, L.; Sanman, E.; Schwebel, D. C.; Scott, J. G.;

Segui-Gomez, M.; Shahraz, S.; Shepard, D. S.; Shin, H.; Shivakoti, R.; Singh, D.; Singh, G.
M.; Singh, J. A.; Singleton, J.; Sleet, D. A.; Sliwa, K.; Smith, E.; Smith, J. L.; Stapelberg, N.
J.; Steer, A.; Steiner, T.; Stolk, W. A.; Stovner, L. J.; Sudfeld, C.; Syed, S.; Tamburlini, G.;
Tavakkoli, M.; Taylor, H. R.; Taylor, J. A.; Taylor, W. J.; Thomas, B.; Thomson, W. M.;
Thurston, G. D.; Tleyjeh, I. M.; Tonelli, M.; Towbin, J. A.; Truelsen, T.; Tsilimbaris, M. K.;
Ubeda, C.; Undurraga, E. A.; van der Werf, M. J.; van Os, J.; Vavilala, M. S.;
Venketasubramanian, N.; Wang, M.; Wang, W.; Watt, K.; Weatherall, D. J.; Weinstock,
M. A.; Weintraub, R.; Weisskopf, M. G.; Weissman, M. M.; White, R. A.; Whiteford, H.;
Wiersma, S. T.; Wilkinson, J. D.; Williams, H. C.; Williams, S. R.; Witt, E.; Wolfe, F.; Woolf,
A. D.; Wulf, S.; Yeh, P. H.; Zaidi, A. K.; Zheng, Z. J.; Zonies, D.; Lopez, A. D.; Murray, C. J.;
AlMazroa, M. A.; Memish, Z. A., Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of
289 diseases and injuries 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of
Disease Study 2010. Lancet (London, England) **2012**, *380* (9859), 2163-96.

14. Yablonka-Reuveni, Z.; Day, K.; Vine, A.; Shefer, G., Defining the transcriptional signature of skeletal muscle stem cells. *Journal of animal science* **2008**, *86* (14 Suppl), E207-16.

15. Bentzinger, C. F.; Wang, Y. X.; Rudnicki, M. A., Building muscle: molecular regulation of myogenesis. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* **2012**, *4* (2).

16. (a) Brien, P.; Pugazhendhi, D.; Woodhouse, S.; Oxley, D.; Pell, J. M., p38alpha MAPK regulates adult muscle stem cell fate by restricting progenitor proliferation during postnatal growth and repair. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)* **2013**, *31* (8), 1597-610; (b) Emery, A. E., The muscular dystrophies. *Lancet (London, England)* **2002,** *359* (9307), 687-95.

17. Luz, M. A.; Marques, M. J.; Santo Neto, H., Impaired regeneration of dystrophindeficient muscle fibers is caused by exhaustion of myogenic cells. *Brazilian journal of medical and biological research = Revista brasileira de pesquisas medicas e biologicas / Sociedade Brasileira de Biofisica ... [et al.]* **2002,** *35* (6), 691-5.

18. Sakuma, K.; Aoi, W.; Yamaguchi, A., The Intriguing Regulators of Muscle Mass in Sarcopenia and Muscular Dystrophy. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* **2014**, *6*, 230.

(a) Baumgartner, R. N.; Waters, D. L.; Gallagher, D.; Morley, J. E.; Garry, P. J.,
Predictors of skeletal muscle mass in elderly men and women. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* **1999**, *107* (2), 123-36; (b) Roubenoff, R.; Hughes, V. A., Sarcopenia: current concepts. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* **2000**, *55* (12), M716-24; (c) Demontis, F.; Piccirillo, R.; Goldberg, A. L.;
Perrimon, N., The influence of skeletal muscle on systemic aging and lifespan. *Aging cell* **2013**, *12* (6), 943-9.

20. Sakuma, K.; Yamaguchi, A., Sarcopenia: Molecular mechanisms and current therapeutic strategy. 2012.

(a) Siriett, V.; Platt, L.; Salerno, M. S.; Ling, N.; Kambadur, R.; Sharma, M.,
 Prolonged absence of myostatin reduces sarcopenia. *Journal of cellular physiology* 2006,
 209 (3), 866-73; (b) Murphy, K. T.; Koopman, R.; Naim, T.; Leger, B.; Trieu, J.; Ibebunjo,
 C.; Lynch, G. S., Antibody-directed myostatin inhibition in 21-mo-old mice reveals novel

roles for myostatin signaling in skeletal muscle structure and function. *FASEB journal :* official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology **2010**, *24* (11), 4433-42.

22. (a) Wehling, M.; Cai, B.; Tidball, J. G., Modulation of myostatin expression during modified muscle use. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* **2000**, *14* (1), 103-10; (b) Sakuma, K.; Watanabe, K.; Hotta, N.; Koike, T.; Ishida, K.; Katayama, K.; Akima, H., The adaptive responses in several mediators linked with hypertrophy and atrophy of skeletal muscle after lower limb unloading in humans. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)* **2009**, *197* (2), 151-9.

23. Gu, H.; Cao, Y.; Qiu, B.; Zhou, Z.; Deng, R.; Chen, Z.; Li, R.; Li, X.; Wei, Q.; Xia, X.; Yong, W., Establishment and phenotypic analysis of an Mstn knockout rat. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **2016**.

24. Halliwell, B., Biochemistry of oxidative stress. *Biochemical Society transactions*2007, 35 (Pt 5), 1147-50.

25. Kaludercic, N.; Mialet-Perez, J.; Paolocci, N.; Parini, A.; Di Lisa, F., Monoamine oxidases as sources of oxidants in the heart. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology* **2014**, *73*, 34-42.

(a) Halliwell, B.; Gutteridge, J. M., Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: an overview. *Methods in enzymology* 1990, *186*, 1-85; (b) Thomas, D. D.;
Heinecke, J. L.; Ridnour, L. A.; Cheng, R. Y.; Kesarwala, A. H.; Switzer, C. H.; McVicar, D.
W.; Roberts, D. D.; Glynn, S.; Fukuto, J. M.; Wink, D. A.; Miranda, K. M., Signaling and

stress: The redox landscape in NOS2 biology. *Free radical biology & medicine* **2015**, *87*, 204-25; (c) Holmstrom, K. M.; Finkel, T., Cellular mechanisms and physiological consequences of redox-dependent signalling. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **2014**, *15* (6), 411-21.

Scheele, C.; Nielsen, S.; Pedersen, B. K., ROS and myokines promote muscle adaptation to exercise. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* 2009, *20* (3), 95-9.
(a) Canton, M.; Menazza, S.; Di Lisa, F., Oxidative stress in muscular dystrophy: from generic evidence to specific sources and targets. *Journal of muscle research and cell motility* 2014, *35* (1), 23-36; (b) Terrill, J. R.; Radley-Crabb, H. G.; Iwasaki, T.; Lemckert, F. A.; Arthur, P. G.; Grounds, M. D., Oxidative stress and pathology in muscular dystrophies: focus on protein thiol oxidation and dysferlinopathies. *The FEBS journal* 2013, *280* (17), 4149-64; (c) Rodriguez, M. C.; Tarnopolsky, M. A., Patients with dystrophinopathy show evidence of increased oxidative stress. *Free radical biology & medicine* 2003, *34* (9), 1217-20.

29. Franco, A., Jr.; Lansman, J. B., Calcium entry through stretch-inactivated ion channels in mdx myotubes. *Nature* **1990**, *344* (6267), 670-3.

Burr, A. R.; Molkentin, J. D., Genetic evidence in the mouse solidifies the calcium hypothesis of myofiber death in muscular dystrophy. *Cell death and differentiation* 2015, 22 (9), 1402-12.

31. Bakkar, N.; Guttridge, D. C., NF-kappaB signaling: a tale of two pathways in skeletal myogenesis. *Physiological reviews* **2010**, *90* (2), 495-511.

32. (a) Kumar, A.; Boriek, A. M., Mechanical stress activates the nuclear factorkappaB pathway in skeletal muscle fibers: a possible role in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* **2003**, *17* (3), 386-96; (b) Acharyya, S.; Villalta, S. A.; Bakkar, N.; Bupha-Intr, T.; Janssen, P. M.; Carathers, M.; Li, Z. W.; Beg, A. A.; Ghosh, S.; Sahenk, Z.; Weinstein, M.; Gardner, K. L.; Rafael-Fortney, J. A.; Karin, M.; Tidball, J. G.; Baldwin, A. S.; Guttridge, D. C., Interplay of IKK/NF-kappaB signaling in macrophages and myofibers promotes muscle degeneration in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **2007**, *117* (4), 889-901.

33. Crick, F., Central dogma of molecular biology. *Nature* **1970**, *227* (5258), 561-3.

(a) Lander, E. S.; Linton, L. M.; Birren, B.; Nusbaum, C.; Zody, M. C.; Baldwin, J.;
Devon, K.; Dewar, K.; Doyle, M.; FitzHugh, W.; Funke, R.; Gage, D.; Harris, K.; Heaford,
A.; Howland, J.; Kann, L.; Lehoczky, J.; LeVine, R.; McEwan, P.; McKernan, K.; Meldrim, J.;
Mesirov, J. P.; Miranda, C.; Morris, W.; Naylor, J.; Raymond, C.; Rosetti, M.; Santos, R.;
Sheridan, A.; Sougnez, C.; Stange-Thomann, Y.; Stojanovic, N.; Subramanian, A.; Wyman,
D.; Rogers, J.; Sulston, J.; Ainscough, R.; Beck, S.; Bentley, D.; Burton, J.; Clee, C.; Carter,
N.; Coulson, A.; Deadman, R.; Deloukas, P.; Dunham, A.; Dunham, I.; Durbin, R.; French,
L.; Grafham, D.; Gregory, S.; Hubbard, T.; Humphray, S.; Hunt, A.; Jones, M.; Lloyd, C.;
McMurray, A.; Matthews, L.; Mercer, S.; Milne, S.; Mullikin, J. C.; Mungall, A.; Plumb, R.;
Ross, M.; Shownkeen, R.; Sims, S.; Waterston, R. H.; Wilson, R. K.; Hillier, L. W.;
McPherson, J. D.; Marra, M. A.; Mardis, E. R.; Fulton, L. A.; Chinwalla, A. T.; Pepin, K. H.;
Gish, W. R.; Chissoe, S. L.; Wendl, M. C.; Delehaunty, K. D.; Miner, T. L.; Delehaunty, A.; Kramer, J. B.; Cook, L. L.; Fulton, R. S.; Johnson, D. L.; Minx, P. J.; Clifton, S. W.; Hawkins, T.; Branscomb, E.; Predki, P.; Richardson, P.; Wenning, S.; Slezak, T.; Doggett, N.; Cheng, J. F.; Olsen, A.; Lucas, S.; Elkin, C.; Uberbacher, E.; Frazier, M.; Gibbs, R. A.; Muzny, D. M.; Scherer, S. E.; Bouck, J. B.; Sodergren, E. J.; Worley, K. C.; Rives, C. M.; Gorrell, J. H.; Metzker, M. L.; Naylor, S. L.; Kucherlapati, R. S.; Nelson, D. L.; Weinstock, G. M.; Sakaki, Y.; Fujiyama, A.; Hattori, M.; Yada, T.; Toyoda, A.; Itoh, T.; Kawagoe, C.; Watanabe, H.; Totoki, Y.; Taylor, T.; Weissenbach, J.; Heilig, R.; Saurin, W.; Artiguenave, F.; Brottier, P.; Bruls, T.; Pelletier, E.; Robert, C.; Wincker, P.; Smith, D. R.; Doucette-Stamm, L.; Rubenfield, M.; Weinstock, K.; Lee, H. M.; Dubois, J.; Rosenthal, A.; Platzer, M.; Nyakatura, G.; Taudien, S.; Rump, A.; Yang, H.; Yu, J.; Wang, J.; Huang, G.; Gu, J.; Hood, L.; Rowen, L.; Madan, A.; Qin, S.; Davis, R. W.; Federspiel, N. A.; Abola, A. P.; Proctor, M. J.; Myers, R. M.; Schmutz, J.; Dickson, M.; Grimwood, J.; Cox, D. R.; Olson, M. V.; Kaul, R.; Raymond, C.; Shimizu, N.; Kawasaki, K.; Minoshima, S.; Evans, G. A.; Athanasiou, M.; Schultz, R.; Roe, B. A.; Chen, F.; Pan, H.; Ramser, J.; Lehrach, H.; Reinhardt, R.; McCombie, W. R.; de la Bastide, M.; Dedhia, N.; Blocker, H.; Hornischer, K.; Nordsiek, G.; Agarwala, R.; Aravind, L.; Bailey, J. A.; Bateman, A.; Batzoglou, S.; Birney, E.; Bork, P.; Brown, D. G.; Burge, C. B.; Cerutti, L.; Chen, H. C.; Church, D.; Clamp, M.; Copley, R. R.; Doerks, T.; Eddy, S. R.; Eichler, E. E.; Furey, T. S.; Galagan, J.; Gilbert, J. G.; Harmon, C.; Hayashizaki, Y.; Haussler, D.; Hermjakob, H.; Hokamp, K.; Jang, W.; Johnson, L. S.; Jones, T. A.; Kasif, S.; Kaspryzk, A.; Kennedy, S.; Kent, W. J.; Kitts, P.; Koonin, E. V.; Korf, I.; Kulp,

D.; Lancet, D.; Lowe, T. M.; McLysaght, A.; Mikkelsen, T.; Moran, J. V.; Mulder, N.; Pollara, V. J.; Ponting, C. P.; Schuler, G.; Schultz, J.; Slater, G.; Smit, A. F.; Stupka, E.; Szustakowki, J.; Thierry-Mieg, D.; Thierry-Mieg, J.; Wagner, L.; Wallis, J.; Wheeler, R.; Williams, A.; Wolf, Y. I.; Wolfe, K. H.; Yang, S. P.; Yeh, R. F.; Collins, F.; Guyer, M. S.; Peterson, J.; Felsenfeld, A.; Wetterstrand, K. A.; Patrinos, A.; Morgan, M. J.; de Jong, P.; Catanese, J. J.; Osoegawa, K.; Shizuya, H.; Choi, S.; Chen, Y. J.; Szustakowki, J., Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. *Nature* **2001**, *409* (6822), 860-921; (b) Nie, M.; Deng, Z. L.; Liu, J.; Wang, D. Z., Noncoding RNAs, Emerging Regulators of Skeletal Muscle Development and Diseases. *BioMed research international* **2015**, *2015*, 676575.

Bartel, D. P., MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* 2004, 116 (2), 281-97.

36. Dey, B. K.; Mueller, A. C.; Dutta, A., Long non-coding RNAs as emerging regulators of differentiation, development, and disease. *Transcription* **2014**, *5* (4), e944014.

Bovolenta, M.; Erriquez, D.; Valli, E.; Brioschi, S.; Scotton, C.; Neri, M.; Falzarano,
M. S.; Gherardi, S.; Fabris, M.; Rimessi, P.; Gualandi, F.; Perini, G.; Ferlini, A., The DMD
Locus Harbours Multiple Long Non-Coding RNAs Which Orchestrate and Control
Transcription of Muscle Dystrophin mRNA Isoforms. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7 (9), e45328.

(a) De Santa, F.; Barozzi, I.; Mietton, F.; Ghisletti, S.; Polletti, S.; Tusi, B. K.;
Muller, H.; Ragoussis, J.; Wei, C.-L.; Natoli, G., A Large Fraction of Extragenic RNA Pol II

Transcription Sites Overlap Enhancers. *PLoS Biology* 2010, *8* (5), e1000384; (b) Kim, T.K.; Hemberg, M.; Gray, J. M.; Costa, A. M.; Bear, D. M.; Wu, J.; Harmin, D. A.; Laptewicz,
M.; Barbara-Haley, K.; Kuersten, S.; Markenscoff-Papadimitriou, E.; Kuhl, D.; Bito, H.;
Worley, P. F.; Kreiman, G.; Greenberg, M. E., Widespread transcription at neuronal
activity-regulated enhancers. *Nature* 2010, *465* (7295), 182-187.

(a) Cesana, M.; Cacchiarelli, D.; Legnini, I.; Santini, T.; Sthandier, O.; Chinappi,
M.; Tramontano, A.; Bozzoni, I., A Long Noncoding RNA Controls Muscle Differentiation
by Functioning as a Competing Endogenous RNA. *Cell* **2011**, *147* (2), 358-369; (b)
Butchart, L. C.; Fox, A.; Shavlakadze, T.; Grounds, M. D., The long and short of noncoding RNAs during post-natal growth and differentiation of skeletal muscles: Focus on
lncRNA and miRNAs. *Differentiation; research in biological diversity* **2016**; (c) Legnini, I.;
Morlando, M.; Mangiavacchi, A.; Fatica, A.; Bozzoni, I., A feedforward regulatory loop
between HuR and the long noncoding RNA linc-MD1 controls early phases of
myogenesis. *Molecular cell* **2014**, *53* (3), 506-14; (d) Sui, W.; Lin, H.; Peng, W.; Huang, Y.;
Chen, J.; Zhang, Y.; Dai, Y., Molecular dysfunctions in acute rejection after renal
transplantation revealed by integrated analysis of transcription factor, microRNA and
long noncoding RNA. *Genomics* **2013**, *102* (4), 310-22.

40. Mousavi, K.; Zare, H.; Dell'orso, S.; Grontved, L.; Gutierrez-Cruz, G.; Derfoul, A.; Hager, G. L.; Sartorelli, V., eRNAs promote transcription by establishing chromatin accessibility at defined genomic loci. *Molecular cell* **2013**, *51* (5), 606-17. 41. Rinn, J. L.; Kertesz, M.; Wang, J. K.; Squazzo, S. L.; Xu, X.; Brugmann, S. A.; Goodnough, L. H.; Helms, J. A.; Farnham, P. J.; Segal, E.; Chang, H. Y., Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. *Cell* **2007**, *129* (7), 1311-23.

(a) Gupta, R. A.; Shah, N.; Wang, K. C.; Kim, J.; Horlings, H. M.; Wong, D. J.; Tsai, M. C.; Hung, T.; Argani, P.; Rinn, J. L.; Wang, Y.; Brzoska, P.; Kong, B.; Li, R.; West, R. B.; van de Vijver, M. J.; Sukumar, S.; Chang, H. Y., Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR reprograms chromatin state to promote cancer metastasis. *Nature* 2010, *464* (7291), 1071-6; (b)
Khalil, A. M.; Guttman, M.; Huarte, M.; Garber, M.; Raj, A.; Rivea Morales, D.; Thomas, K.; Presser, A.; Bernstein, B. E.; van Oudenaarden, A.; Regev, A.; Lander, E. S.; Rinn, J. L., Many human large intergenic noncoding RNAs associate with chromatin-modifying complexes and affect gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2009, *106* (28), 11667-72; (c) Li, L.; Liu, B.; Wapinski, O. L.; Tsai, M. C.; Qu, K.; Zhang, J.; Carlson, J. C.; Lin, M.; Fang, F.; Gupta, R. A.; Helms, J. A.; Chang, H. Y., Targeted disruption of Hotair leads to homeotic transformation and gene derepression. *Cell reports* 2013, *5* (1), 3-12; (d) Spitale, R. C.; Tsai, M. C.; Chang, H. Y., RNA templating the epigenome: long noncoding RNAs as molecular scaffolds. *Epigenetics* 2011, *6* (5), 539-43.

43. Bhan, A.; Mandal, S. S., LncRNA HOTAIR: A master regulator of chromatin dynamics and cancer. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **2015**, *1856* (1), 151-64.

44. Yu, X.; Li, Z., Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR: A novel oncogene (Review). *Molecular medicine reports* **2015**, *12* (4), 5611-8.

45. Dhamija, S.; Diederichs, S., From junk to master regulators of invasion: IncRNA functions in migration, EMT and metastasis. *International journal of cancer* **2016**, *139* (2), 269-80.

46. (a) Liu, F. T.; Qiu, C.; Luo, H. L.; Zhang, Y.; Xia, G. F.; Hao, T. F.; Zhu, P. Q., The association of HOTAIR expression with clinicopathological features and prognosis in gastric cancer patients. *Panminerva medica* **2016**, *58* (2), 167-74; (b) Qiu, H.; Liu, Q.; Li, J.; Wang, X.; Wang, Y.; Yuan, Z.; Li, J.; Pei, D. S., Analysis of the association of HOTAIR single nucleotide polymorphism (rs920778) and risk of cervical cancer. *APMIS : acta pathologica, microbiologica, et immunologica Scandinavica* **2016**; (c) Bhan, A.; Hussain, I.; Ansari, K. I.; Kasiri, S.; Bashyal, A.; Mandal, S. S., Antisense transcript long noncoding RNA (IncRNA) HOTAIR is transcriptionally induced by estradiol. *Journal of molecular biology* **2013**, *425* (19), 3707-22.

47. Caretti, G.; Di Padova, M.; Micales, B.; Lyons, G. E.; Sartorelli, V., The Polycomb Ezh2 methyltransferase regulates muscle gene expression and skeletal muscle differentiation. *Genes & development* **2004**, *18* (21), 2627-38.

48. (a) Juan, A. H.; Derfoul, A.; Feng, X.; Ryall, J. G.; Dell'Orso, S.; Pasut, A.; Zare, H.; Simone, J. M.; Rudnicki, M. A.; Sartorelli, V., Polycomb EZH2 controls self-renewal and safeguards the transcriptional identity of skeletal muscle stem cells. *Genes & development* **2011**, *25* (8), 789-94; (b) Woodhouse, S.; Pugazhendhi, D.; Brien, P.; Pell, J. M., Ezh2 maintains a key phase of muscle satellite cell expansion but does not regulate terminal differentiation. *Journal of cell science* **2013**, *126* (Pt 2), 565-79.

49. Choi, J.; Jang, H.; Kim, H.; Kim, S. T.; Cho, E. J.; Youn, H. D., Histone demethylase LSD1 is required to induce skeletal muscle differentiation by regulating myogenic factors. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **2010**, *401* (3), 327-32.

50. Almeida, C. F.; Fernandes, S. A.; Ribeiro Junior, A. F.; Keith Okamoto, O.; Vainzof,
M., Muscle Satellite Cells: Exploring the Basic Biology to Rule Them. *Stem cells international* 2016, 2016, 1078686.

(a) Brunetti, A.; Goldfine, I. D., Role of myogenin in myoblast differentiation and its regulation by fibroblast growth factor. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **1990**, *265* (11), 5960-3; (b) Joulia-Ekaza, D.; Cabello, G., Myostatin regulation of muscle development: molecular basis, natural mutations, physiopathological aspects. *Experimental cell research* **2006**, *312* (13), 2401-14.

52. Heissler, S. M.; Sellers, J. R., Various Themes of Myosin Regulation. *Journal of molecular biology* **2016**, *428* (9 Pt B), 1927-46.

53. Ballarino, M.; Morlando, M.; Fatica, A.; Bozzoni, I., Non-coding RNAs in muscle differentiation and musculoskeletal disease. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **2016**, *126* (6), 2021-30.

(a) Ge, X. S.; Ma, H. J.; Zheng, X. H.; Ruan, H. L.; Liao, X. Y.; Xue, W. Q.; Chen, Y.
B.; Zhang, Y.; Jia, W. H., HOTAIR, a prognostic factor in esophageal squamous cell
carcinoma, inhibits WIF-1 expression and activates Wnt pathway. *Cancer science* 2013,

104 (12), 1675-82; (b) Kogo, R.; Shimamura, T.; Mimori, K.; Kawahara, K.; Imoto, S.; Sudo, T.; Tanaka, F.; Shibata, K.; Suzuki, A.; Komune, S.; Miyano, S.; Mori, M., Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR regulates polycomb-dependent chromatin modification and is associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancers. *Cancer research* **2011**, *71* (20), 6320-6.

(a) Allen, R. E., Muscle cell culture as a tool in animal growth research. *Federation proceedings* **1987**, *46* (2), 290-4; (b) Cooper, W. G.; Konigsberg, I. R.,
Dynamics of myogenesis in vitro. *The Anatomical record* **1961**, *140*, 195-205.

56. Deane, H. W.; Nesbett, F. B.; et al., A cytochemical study of glycogen synthesized from glucose or pyruvate by liver slices in vitro. *Journal of cellular physiology* **1947**, *30* (3), 255-69.

57. (a) Lambert, R. A.; Hanes, F. M., A STUDY OF CANCER IMMUNITY BY THE METHOD OF CULTIVATING TISSUES OUTSIDE THE BODY. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **1911**, *13* (5), 505-10; (b) Liebmann, E., A METHOD FOR THE STUDY OF INVERTEBRATE BLOOD IN VITRO. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **1943**, *97* (2510), 146.

58. Capers, C. R., Multinucleation of skeletal muscle in vitro. *The Journal of biophysical and biochemical cytology* **1960**, *7*, 559-66.

(a) Mo, C.; Zhao, R.; Vallejo, J.; Igwe, O.; Bonewald, L.; Wetmore, L.; Brotto, M.,
Prostaglandin E2 promotes proliferation of skeletal muscle myoblasts via EP4 receptor activation. *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)* 2015, *14* (10), 1507-16; (b) Huang, J.; Hsu, Y. H.;
Mo, C.; Abreu, E.; Kiel, D. P.; Bonewald, L. F.; Brotto, M.; Karasik, D., METTL21C is a

potential pleiotropic gene for osteoporosis and sarcopenia acting through the modulation of the NF-kappaB signaling pathway. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research* **2014**, *29* (7), 1531-40; (c) Shen, J.; Yu, W. M.; Brotto, M.; Scherman, J. A.; Guo, C.; Stoddard, C.; Nosek, T. M.; Valdivia, H. H.; Qu, C. K., Deficiency of MIP/MTMR14 phosphatase induces a muscle disorder by disrupting Ca(2+) homeostasis. *Nature cell biology* **2009**, *11* (6), 769-76; (d) Cai, C.; Masumiya, H.; Weisleder, N.; Matsuda, N.; Nishi, M.; Hwang, M.; Ko, J. K.; Lin, P.; Thornton, A.; Zhao, X.; Pan, Z.; Komazaki, S.; Brotto, M.; Takeshima, H.; Ma, J., MG53 nucleates assembly of cell membrane repair machinery. *Nature cell biology* **2009**, *11* (1), 56-64.

60. (a) Kondratskyi, A.; Kondratska, K.; Skryma, R.; Prevarskaya, N., Ion channels in the regulation of apoptosis. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 2015, *1848* (10 Pt B), 2532-46;
(b) Finger, F.; Hoppe, T., MicroRNAs meet calcium: joint venture in ER proteostasis. *Science signaling* 2014, *7* (350), re11; (c) Toth, A. B.; Shum, A. K.; Prakriya, M.,
Regulation of neurogenesis by calcium signaling. *Cell calcium* 2016, *59* (2-3), 124-34; (d)
Espeso, E. A., The CRaZy Calcium Cycle. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology* 2016, *892*, 169-86; (e) Pan, Z.; Brotto, M.; Ma, J., Store-operated Ca2+ entry in muscle physiology and diseases. *BMB reports* 2014, *47* (2), 69-79.

61. Held, P. Detecting Calcium Concentration Changes Using the FLx800 Fluorescence Microplate Reader. <u>http://www.biotek.com/resources/articles/calcium-</u> <u>concentration-changes.html</u>. Blais, A., Myogenesis in the genomics era. *Journal of molecular biology* 2015,
427 (11), 2023-38.

Tsumagari, K.; Baribault, C.; Terragni, J.; Chandra, S.; Renshaw, C.; Sun, Z.; Song,
L.; Crawford, G. E.; Pradhan, S.; Lacey, M.; Ehrlich, M., DNA methylation and
differentiation: HOX genes in muscle cells. *Epigenetics & chromatin* 2013, 6 (1), 25.

64. Li, L.; Liu, B.; Wapinski, O. L.; Tsai, M.-C.; Qu, K.; Zhang, J.; Carlson, J. C.; Lin, M.; Fang, F.; Gupta, R. A.; Helms, J. A.; Chang, H. Y., Targeted disruption of Hotair leads to homeotic transformation and gene de-repression. *Cell reports* **2013**, *5* (1), 3-12.

(a) Duncan, C. J., Role of intracellular calcium in promoting muscle damage: a strategy for controlling the dystrophic condition. *Experientia* 1978, *34* (12), 1531-5; (b)
Tu, M. K.; Levin, J. B.; Hamilton, A. M.; Borodinsky, L. N., Calcium signaling in skeletal muscle development, maintenance and regeneration. *Cell calcium* 2016, *59* (2-3), 91-7.
Saxena, A.; Carninci, P., Long non-coding RNA modifies chromatin: epigenetic silencing by long non-coding RNAs. *BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular*

and developmental biology **2011,** 33 (11), 830-9.

67. (a) Wutz, A., RNA-mediated silencing mechanisms in mammalian cells. *Progress in molecular biology and translational science* 2011, *101*, 351-76; (b) Tsai, M. C.; Manor,
O.; Wan, Y.; Mosammaparast, N.; Wang, J. K.; Lan, F.; Shi, Y.; Segal, E.; Chang, H. Y., Long noncoding RNA as modular scaffold of histone modification complexes. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 2010, *329* (5992), 689-93.

Wu, L.; Murat, P.; Matak-Vinkovic, D.; Murrell, A.; Balasubramanian, S., Binding interactions between long noncoding RNA HOTAIR and PRC2 proteins. *Biochemistry* 2013, *52* (52), 9519-27.

69. Zhang, A.; Zhang, J.; Kaipainen, A.; Lucas, J. M.; Yang, H., Long non-coding RNA: A newly deciphered "code" in prostate cancer. *Cancer letters* **2016**, *375* (2), 323-30.

70. (a) Caretti, G.; Schiltz, R. L.; Dilworth, F. J.; Di Padova, M.; Zhao, P.; Ogryzko, V.; Fuller-Pace, F. V.; Hoffman, E. P.; Tapscott, S. J.; Sartorelli, V., The RNA helicases p68/p72 and the noncoding RNA SRA are coregulators of MyoD and skeletal muscle differentiation. *Developmental cell* **2006**, *11* (4), 547-60; (b) Cesana, M.; Cacchiarelli, D.; Legnini, I.; Santini, T.; Sthandier, O.; Chinappi, M.; Tramontano, A.; Bozzoni, I., A long noncoding RNA controls muscle differentiation by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. *Cell* **2011**, *147* (2), 358-69.

71. Gong, C.; Li, Z.; Ramanujan, K.; Clay, I.; Zhang, Y.; Lemire-Brachat, S.; Glass, D. J., A long non-coding RNA, LncMyoD, regulates skeletal muscle differentiation by blocking IMP2-mediated mRNA translation. *Developmental cell* **2015**, *34* (2), 181-91.

72. Choi, J.; Jang, H.; Kim, H.; Lee, J. H.; Kim, S. T.; Cho, E. J.; Youn, H. D., Modulation of lysine methylation in myocyte enhancer factor 2 during skeletal muscle cell differentiation. *Nucleic acids research* **2014**, *42* (1), 224-34.

(a) Pilotto, S.; Speranzini, V.; Marabelli, C.; Rusconi, F.; Toffolo, E.; Grillo, B.;
Battaglioli, E.; Mattevi, A., LSD1/KDM1A mutations associated to a newly described form of intellectual disability impair demethylase activity and binding to transcription factors.

Human molecular genetics **2016**; (b) Tunovic, S.; Barkovich, J.; Sherr, E. H.; Slavotinek, A. M., De novo ANKRD11 and KDM1A gene mutations in a male with features of KBG syndrome and Kabuki syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics. Part A* **2014**, *164a* (7), 1744-9.

74. Creazzo, T. L.; Brotto, M. A.; Burch, J., Excitation-contraction coupling in the day
15 embryonic chick heart with persistent truncus arteriosus. *Pediatric research* 1997, *42*(6), 731-7.

75. Genin, P.; Algarte, M.; Roof, P.; Lin, R.; Hiscott, J., Regulation of RANTES chemokine gene expression requires cooperativity between NF-kappa B and IFN-regulatory factor transcription factors. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* **2000**, *164* (10), 5352-61.

76. Corti, S.; Salani, S.; Del Bo, R.; Sironi, M.; Strazzer, S.; D'Angelo, M. G.; Comi, G.
P.; Bresolin, N.; Scarlato, G., Chemotactic factors enhance myogenic cell migration
across an endothelial monolayer. *Experimental cell research* 2001, 268 (1), 36-44.

77. De Paepe, B.; Creus, K. K.; Martin, J. J.; De Bleecker, J. L., Upregulation of chemokines and their receptors in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: potential for attenuation of myofiber necrosis. *Muscle & nerve* **2012**, *46* (6), 917-25.

78. Lind, C., Formation of benzo[a]pyrene-3,6-quinol mono- and diglucuronides in rat liver microsomes. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* **1985**, *240* (1), 226-35.

79. Baumann, C. W.; Kwak, D.; Liu, H.; Thompson, L. V., Age-induced oxidative stress: How does it influence skeletal muscle quantity and quality? *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)* **2016**, jap.00321.2016.

Mourkioti, F.; Rosenthal, N., NF-kappaB signaling in skeletal muscle: prospects for intervention in muscle diseases. *Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany)* 2008, 86 (7), 747-59.

81. Porter, J. D.; Guo, W.; Merriam, A. P.; Khanna, S.; Cheng, G.; Zhou, X.; Andrade,
F. H.; Richmonds, C.; Kaminski, H. J., Persistent over-expression of specific CC class
chemokines correlates with macrophage and T-cell recruitment in mdx skeletal muscle. *Neuromuscular disorders : NMD* 2003, *13* (3), 223-35.

Biographical Information

Fritzlaine Roche was born in Port-au-Prince, Haiti during a turbulent political unrest that threatened the safety of her family. As a result, Fritzlaine immigrated to the United States in 1994 as a refugee. Her family settled in Kansas City, Missouri where she lived for the majority of her life. Fritzlaine attended the prestigious public high school, Lincoln Preparatory Academy in Kansas City, Missouri and graduated in the top 5% of her class with a full merit scholarship to Wesleyan University in Middletown, Connecticut. At Wesleyan, Fritzlaine deeply immersed herself in the liberal arts curriculum and took interesting courses in French, Japanese, Spanish, music, tennis, literature and science while also participating in multiple collegiate activities.

While in college, Fritzlaine also engaged in diverse research projects during her summer breaks. Most notably, she was one of few students selected among thousands of applicants to participate in the Summer Medical Dental & Education Program at Case Western University in Cleveland, Ohio and the Summer Research Opportunity Program at Northwestern University in Evanston, Illinois. Her summer experiences stimulated her motivation to continue in the field of research. Thus, during her two post baccalaureate years of teaching high school science through the Teach For America program in Kansas City, Missouri, Fritzlaine, also volunteered in research labs, most notably that of her mentor, Dr. Marco Brotto.

Fritzlaine, along with the majority of the Brotto Lab moved to the University of Texas-Arlington in the Fall of 2015. Shortly after her move Fritzlaine commenced her Master studies in Chemistry. Upon her completion of her Master studies, Fritzlaine plans to matriculate to the University of Rochester Medical School in Rochester, New York in hopes of contributing to the holistic practice of medicine involving health, research and social justice.

74